
  

 

James Ellis 

Head of Legal and Democratic Services  
 

 
This agenda has been printed using 100% recycled paper 

 
 

 

 

 

MEETING : DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE 

VENUE : COUNCIL CHAMBER, WALLFIELDS, HERTFORD 

DATE : WEDNESDAY 19 JULY 2023 

TIME : 7.00 PM 

 

PLEASE NOTE TIME AND VENUE 

 

This meeting will be live streamed on the Council’s Youtube page: 

https://www.youtube.com/user/EastHertsDistrict  

 

MEMBERS OF THE COMMITTEE 

Councillor Y Estop (Chairman) 

Councillors R Buckmaster, V Burt, R Carter, S Copley, I Devonshire, 

J Dunlop, G Hill, A Holt, S Marlow, T Stowe and S Watson 

 

Substitutes 

 

(Note:  Substitution arrangements must be notified by the absent Member 

to the Committee Chairman or the Executive Member for Planning and 

Growth, who, in turn, will notify the Committee service at least 7 hours 

before commencement of the meeting.) 

 

CONTACT OFFICER: PETER MANNINGS 

01279 502174 

PETER.MANNINGS@EASTHERTS.GOV.UK 

Conservative: Councillors S Bull and T Deffley 

Green: Councillor V Smith 

Liberal Democrat: Councillor M Adams 

Public Document Pack

https://www.youtube.com/user/EastHertsDistrict
mailto:peter.mannings@eastherts.gov.uk


 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Public Attendance 

 

East Herts Council welcomes public attendance at its meetings and 

meetings will continue to be live streamed and 

webcasted. For further information, please email 

democraticservices@eastherts.gov.uk or call the Council on 01279 

655261 and ask to speak to Democratic Services.  
 

The Council operates a paperless policy in respect of agendas at 

committee meetings and the Council will no longer be providing 

spare copies of Agendas for the Public at Committee Meetings.  The 

mod.gov app is available to download for free from app stores for 

electronic devices. You can use the mod.gov app to access, annotate 

and keep all committee paperwork on your mobile device. 

Visit https://www.eastherts.gov.uk/article/35542/Political- 

Structure for details. 
 

Disclosable Pecuniary Interests  

 

A Member, present at a meeting of the Authority, or any committee, 

sub-committee, joint committee or joint sub-committee of the 

Authority, with a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest (DPI) in any matter to 

be considered or being considered at a meeting: 

 

 must not participate in any discussion of the matter at the 

meeting; 

 must not participate in any vote taken on the matter at the 

meeting; 

 must disclose the interest to the meeting, whether registered 

or not, subject to the provisions of section 32 of the Localism 

Act 2011;  

 if the interest is not registered and is not the subject of a 

pending notification, must notify the Monitoring Officer of the 

interest within 28 days; 

 must leave the room while any discussion or voting takes 

place. 
 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Audio/Visual Recording of meetings 

 

Everyone is welcome to record meetings of the Council and its 

Committees using whatever, non-disruptive, methods you think are 

suitable, which may include social media of any kind, such as 

tweeting, blogging or Facebook.  However, oral reporting or 

commentary is prohibited.  If you have any questions about this 

please contact Democratic Services (members of the press should 

contact the Press Office).  Please note that the Chairman of the 

meeting has the discretion to halt any recording for a number of 

reasons, including disruption caused by the filming or the nature of 

the business being conducted.  Anyone filming a meeting should 

focus only on those actively participating and be sensitive to the 

rights of minors, vulnerable adults and those members of the public 

who have not consented to being filmed.   

 



 

AGENDA 

 

1. Appointment of Vice-Chairman  

 

2. Apologies  

 

 To receive apologies for absence. 

 

3. Chairman's Announcements  

 

4. Declarations of Interest  

 

 To receive any Members' declarations of interest. 

 

5. Minutes - 5 April 2023 (Pages 6 - 27) 

 

 To confirm the Minutes of the meeting of the Committee held on 

Wednesday 5 April 2023. 

 

6. Planning Applications for Consideration by the Committee 

(Pages 28 - 31) 

 

(A) 3/22/2534/FUL - Removal of five temporary buildings, erection of a 

Sports Hall with reception and administrative areas, amendments 

to vehicular parking and circulation, improvements to security and 

pedestrian connectivity, together with hard and soft landscaping 

and associated works at Simon Balle All-through School, Mangrove 

Road, Hertford, SG13 8AJ (Pages 32 - 73) 

 

7. Items for Reporting and Noting (Pages 74 - 82) 

 

 (A) Appeals against refusal of Planning Permission/ 

non-determination. 

 



 

(B) Planning Appeals Lodged. 

 

(C) Planning Appeals: Inquiry and Informal Hearing Dates. 

 

(D) Planning Statistics. 

 

8. Urgent Business  

 

 To consider such other business as, in the opinion of the Chairman 

of the meeting, is of sufficient urgency to warrant consideration 

and is not likely to involve the disclosure of exempt information. 

 

 



DM  DM 
 
 

 

 

  MINUTES OF A MEETING OF THE 

DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT 

COMMITTEE HELD IN THE COUNCIL 

CHAMBER, WALLFIELDS, HERTFORD ON 

WEDNESDAY 5 APRIL 2023, AT 7.00 PM 

   

 PRESENT: Councillor B Deering (Chairman) 

  Councillors D Andrews, T Beckett, 

B Crystall, R Fernando, I Kemp, S Newton, 

T Page, C Redfern, P Ruffles and T Stowe 

   

 ALSO PRESENT:  

 

  Councillors J Goodeve and J Jones 

   

 OFFICERS IN ATTENDANCE: 

 

  Steve Fraser-Lim - Principal Planning 

Officer 

  Steven King - Finance 

Management 

Trainee 

  Peter Mannings - Democratic 

Services Officer 

  Karen Page - The Service 

Manager 

(Development 

Management and 

Enforcement) 

  Sara Saunders - Head of Planning 

and Building 

Control 

  Victoria Wilders - Legal Services 

Manager 

Page 6

Agenda Item 5



DM  DM 
 
 

 

 

 

419   APOLOGIES  

 

 

 An apology for absence was submitted on behalf of 

Councillor R Buckmaster. 
 

 

420   CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS  

 

 

 Councillor Deering said that this was the last meeting 

of the Development Management Committee in this 

administration as there were local council in elections 

in May. He thanked Members for their work over the 

last four years. 
 

Councillor Deering thanked Councillor Ruffles who had 

served on the Committee for several administrations. 

He also thanked Officers for their support to the 

Committee. 

 

Councillor Deering expressed his thanks to Councillors 

Andrews, Page and Ruffles who had all chaired the 

committee in the past. 

 

 

421   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

 

 

 There were no declarations of interest. 
 

 

422   3/22/1030/OUT - OUTLINE PLANNING APPLICATION WITH 

ALL MATTERS RESERVED EXCEPT ACCESS FOR THE 

ERECTION OF UP TO 58 DWELLINGS, AMENITY SPACE, 

LANDSCAPING AND ALL ASSOCIATED INFRASTRUCTURE AT 

LAND TO THE NORTH-WEST OF BUNTINGFORD (EAST OF 

THE A10) LOCATED OFF NEALE DRIVE AND PHILLIPS WAY, 

BUNTINGFORD, HERTFORDSHIRE   

 

Page 7



DM  DM 
 
 

 

 

 

 The Head of Planning and Building Control 

recommended that in respect of application 

3/22/1030/OUT, planning permission be granted 

subject to a Section 106 legal agreement and the 

conditions set out at the end of the report. 

 

The Principal Planning Officer referred to the planning 

history of adjacent sites and presented a detailed 

series of plans and visuals in respect of the application 

site for two parcels of land to the north side of 

Buntingford. He highlighted a relatively new road, 

Neale Drive, which intersects the two parcels of land. 

 

The Principal Planning Officer advised that the 

application was on a site that had been identified in 

the District Plan for housing development and some 

parts of the site had already come forward and been 

built out for development. 

 

The Principal Planning Officer referred to the master 

planning process and referred to the design principles 

which included the promotion of active travel and 

walking and cycling links from the site down towards 

the town centre. 

 

The Principal Planning Officer presented a series of 

illustrative plans for how the site could be built out to 

meet the principles in the masterplan. He referred to 

the comments from the Conservation and Design 

Officers in respect of frontages onto Neale Drive and 

pedestrian links. 

 

???  

Page 8



DM  DM 
 
 

 

 

The Principal Planning Officer summarised the 

addendum report which contained four additional 

letters. He said that Neale Drive had not been opened 

fully and was not adopted due to ongoing discussions 

between Redrow Homes and Hertfordshire County 

Council. Members were advised that once these 

discussions had concluded a few more minor 

measures were required at the junction between Neale 

Drive and Ermine Street before Neale Drive could be 

adopted and opened to the public. 

 

Members were advised that planning conditions had 

been applied which meant that the developer could 

not commence the development until Neale Drive was 

open and ready for use. 

 

Mr Rob Snowling addressed the Committee in support 

of the application. Councillor Jones addressed the 

Committee as the local ward Member. 

 

Members were advised that Officers could not identify 

any planning reasons for deferring the application and 

Officers had recommended it for approval as it 

accorded with planning policies. The Principal Planning 

Officer said that Neale Drive was essential for 

accessing this development and Officers were satisfied 

that the proposed planning conditions would ensure 

that Neale Drive would allow the development to be 

accessed. He referred to a condition for a construction 

management plan which required details of the 

construction traffic routings. 

 

The Service Manager (Development Management) said 

that Officers had been in contact with the highways 

Page 9



DM  DM 
 
 

 

 

authority who had provided assurances that the 

Section 278 works would be undertaken in the 

summer of 2023. Members were reminded that this 

was an outline application and Officers were satisfied 

that by the time development could commence, the 

works to Neale Drive will have been underway or 

completed. 

 

Members were advised that Officers could apply a 

further compliance condition that would stipulate that 

the development cannot commence until Neale Drive 

was fully operational and open to construction traffic. 

 

Councillor Kemp asked for some clarity as to what was 

being proposed. He said that from his visit to the site, 

he considered that Neale Drive was complete 

throughout and the junction onto the A10 was 

complete in situ. He could not see any physical reason 

why Neale Drive should not be available for 

construction traffic immediately. 

 

Councillor Kemp asked for some clarification in respect 

of the construction management plan and he did not 

consider it to be acceptable at all for construction 

traffic to come down Ermine Street to access Neale 

Drive. He said that there should be a firm condition or 

a very firm understanding that construction traffic 

should access this site from the junction of the A10 

and Neale Drive. 

 

The Principal Planning Officer said that the applicant 

would need highway authority approval to use the 

access and Officers would not expect the construction 

Page 10



DM  DM 
 
 

 

 

management plan to route construction traffic past 

people’s houses. 

 

The Service Manager (Development Management) said 

that the Officers could refer to all traffic being via 

Neale Drive and the junction with the A10. Councillor 

Andrews said that his concern was that Neale Drive 

was only used by construction traffic until it was 

complete. 

 

Councillor Beckett said that the highways agency had 

stated that the visibility splays were substandard 

entering the site and a stage one road safety audit was 

required. The Service Manager (Development 

Management) confirmed that the stage one road 

safety audit had been completed. 

 

Councillor Newton said that the fundamental problems 

referred to by Councillor Jones had not been resolved 

in respect of this application. Councillor Deering 

reminded Members that this was an outline 

application. 

 

The Service Manager (Development Management) said 

that more detail could be added to the requirements 

of the construction management plan in respect of the 

routing of construction vehicles and access off the A10 

onto Neale Drive. She said that there was the 

opportunity to add a compliance condition stipulating 

that no works could take place on site until that access 

was ready. 

 

Councillor Beckett said that the housing department 

were concerned in respect of the lack of four-bedroom 

Page 11



DM  DM 
 
 

 

 

affordable housing and that at least one bungalow was 

substandard in terms of size. He commented on the 

daily water consumption per person per day and asked 

for some guidance in respect of the proposed 

distribution of the affordable housing. 

 

Councillor Fernando said that Thames Water had 

advised that in respect of surface water drainage, 

surface water would not be discharged to the public 

network and they had not objected on that basis. He 

said that some attenuation had been recommended 

on the site as it was located on low lying bed rock. 

 

The Principal Planning Officer said that this outline 

application did include an illustrative mix of housing 

and there was the opportunity to improve on that mix 

at the reserved matters stage and conditions had been 

applied in that respect. 

 

The Service Manager (Development Management) said 

that on a 58 dwelling scheme a registered provider 

would prefer to have blocks in respect of management 

and maintenance and Officers felt that it was 

appropriate to allow for some flexibility as this was a 

quite a small site. She said that the important point 

was the quality of the build being of a high standard. 

 

The Principal Planning Officer said that the main 

concern of the Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA) was 

that there was a below ground attenuation proposed 

and they felt that this was not ideal as there was no 

benefit in terms of biodiversity. He said that above 

ground attenuation was provided which had resulted 

in the access being moved slightly. Members were 

Page 12



DM  DM 
 
 

 

 

advised that a condition had been applied on the 

recommendation of Thames Water. 

 

The Principal Planning Officer said that the strategy 

does involve discharging into the main sewer network 

and Thames Water would be reconsulted at the 

reserved matters stage regarding the discharge of 

conditions in respect of drainage. 

 

The Service Manager (Development Management) said 

that Thames Water had not objected to the proposals 

and if there was to be a significant change to drainage 

management on site there was an approval process 

and Officers would need to reconsult Thames Water. 

She referred to condition 15 which required details to 

be submitted. 

 

Councillor Crystal sought and was given clarity in 

respect of the significant tree planting referred to in 

the masterplan. He referred to the comments of Herts 

and Middlesex Wildlife Trust on the insertion of 5 

biodiversity units in the conditions. He referred to 

condition 16 in respect of bat cavity boxes and swift 

boxes and asked if the biodiversity units could be 

added to that condition. 

 

The Principal Planning Officer said that it was worth 

bearing in mind that areas of open space in front of 

the houses that had already been built were outside of 

the site. He said that there were significant areas of 

tree planting on the eastern and western boundaries 

of site and along the frontage of Neale Drive. 

 

Page 13



DM  DM 
 
 

 

 

Members were advised that the landscape and 

environmental management plan could be amended 

to include the 5 biodiversity units as requested by the 

Herts and Middlesex Wildlife Trust.  

 

Councillor Kemp said that the request for a Section 106 

contribution of £74,000 by the NHS had not been 

included in the heads of terms. The Legal Services 

Manager confirmed that the decision making of the 

Committee could pick up this matter. 

 

In reply to a comment from Councillor Newton in 

respect of private legal action in respect of the road 

and their house, Councillor Deering said that Members 

had to determine the application in front of them. The 

Legal Services Manager confirmed that the Committee 

could not get involved in third party private legal 

action. 

 

Councillor Redfern referred to the area being an area 

of archaeological significance and there being no 

reference to this in the report. The Principal Planning 

Officer said that the archaeological team had not 

commented on the application. He said that the 

standard archaeological condition could be applied to 

the application. 

 

Councillor Ruffles proposed and Councillor Kemp 

seconded, a motion that application 3/22/1030/OUT be 

granted planning permission subject to a Section 106 

legal agreement and the conditions set out at the end 

of the report, subject to the following amendments: 

 

Page 14



DM  DM 
 
 

 

 

 a construction management plan condition be 

applied to specify that construction traffic onto 

Neale Drive shall be accessed off the A10; 

 a compliance condition be applied that prohibits 

development from commencing until Neale Drive 

was open to construction traffic; 

 an archaeological condition be applied; 

 the £74,000 requested by the NHS be included in 

the heads of terms of the Section 106 legal 

agreement; 

 

After being put to the meeting and a vote taken, the 

motion was declared CARRIED. 

 

RESOLVED – that in respect of application 

3/22/1030/OUT, planning permission be granted 

subject to a Section 106 legal agreement and the 

conditions set out at the end of the report, 

subject to the following amendments: 

 

 a construction management plan condition 

be applied to specify that construction 

traffic onto Neale Drive shall be accessed 

off the A10; 

 a compliance condition be applied that 

prohibits development from commencing 

until Neale Drive was open to construction 

traffic; 

 an archaeological condition be applied; 

 the £74,000 requested by the NHS be 

included in the heads of terms of the 

Section 106 legal agreement. 

 

 

Page 15



DM  DM 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

423   3/22/2200/FUL - REDEVELOPMENT OF THE SITE TO 

PROVIDE INDUSTRIAL UNITS (USE CLASSES E(G)III AND/OR 

B2 AND/OR B8) AND ASSOCIATED WORKS INCLUDING 

VEHICLE PARKING, ANCILLARY STRUCTURES AND 

LANDSCAPING AT LAND AND BUILDINGS AT HERTFORD 

INDUSTRIAL ESTATE, CAXTON HILL, HERTFORD, SG13 7NE  

 

 

 The Head of Planning and Building Control 

recommended that in respect of application 

3/22/2200/FUL, planning permission be granted 

subject to a Section 106 legal agreement and the 

conditions set out at the end of the report. 

 

The Service Manager (Development Management) 

detailed the location of the site and presented a 

detailed series of visuals and aerial photographs in 

respect of the application site. Members were advised 

that the site was an allocated site for employment in 

the East Herts District Plan. 

 

The Service Manager (Development Manager) detailed 

the proposed access and summarised the key features 

of the development. The proposals would represent an 

uplift of approximately 2,300 square metres over and 

above the previous floor space provided on site. 

 

The Service Manager (Development Management) said 

that the scale and design of the buildings were 

considered appropriate for the locality. She said that 

 

Page 16



DM  DM 
 
 

 

 

the exact specifications for the materials will need to 

be submitted for approval and secured by condition. 

 

Members were advised that the proposals included 

passive design and energy efficiency measures 

including air source heat pumps. Members were 

advised that the energy statement demonstrates that 

the development could achieve BREEAM excellence 

and the requirement to meet this commitment would 

be secured by condition. 

 

The Service Manager (Development Management) said 

that there would be 217 parking spaces, 24 of which 

will be active electric vehicle charging spaces and there 

would also be disability parking and 76 cycle spaces.  

 

Members were advised that the plans were amended 

to provide more space and better legibility for 

pedestrians and cyclists to move through the site and 

to accommodate additional soft landscaping. There will 

be some losses to category B and C trees and there 

would be a robust planting scheme for 170 new trees. 

 

The Service Manager (Development Management) said 

that there were also commitments around integrated 

swift boxes and other ecological improvement 

measures. Members were advised that the proposals 

demonstrate a 40% biodiversity net gain. 

 

Members were advised that the highway authority had 

raised concerns in response to the public consultation 

about the vehicular access arrangements for the site, 

and for the potential for rat running between John Tate 

Road and Ware Road once the southern access had 

Page 17



DM  DM 
 
 

 

 

been opened. The Service Manager (Development 

Management) said that measures had been 

incorporated into the scheme to prevent this from 

happening. She referred to modal filters to restrict any 

vehicles, except for unit 12, from accessing or leaving 

the site via Caxton Hill. 

 

The Service Manager said that concerns had been 

expressed by the Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA) 

about the discharge rate of water from the site and 

surface water draining. The applicant had submitted 

further details which had sought to address these 

concerns and Officers were satisfied they were 

sufficient to address the concerns of the LLFA. 

 

Members were advised that a condition had been 

applied to require surface water to be intercepted so 

that it did not discharge on the highway. Officers were 

satisfied that other matters such as contamination had 

been addressed and subject to conditions requiring 

further information, any impacts can be appropriately 

mitigated. 

 

The Service Manager (Development Management) 

concluded that the redevelopment of the site will 

provide employment opportunities on a site within the 

District Plan that is allocated as an employment area. 

The proposals provide an opportunity to improve the 

biodiversity value of the site, improve links for 

pedestrians and cyclists, improve the opportunity to 

manage drainage and bring forward development that 

conforms to required energy efficiency standards. 

 

Page 18



DM  DM 
 
 

 

 

Members were advised that the vehicle restriction 

measures will reduce traffic congestion on the Ware 

Road and around the town centre and would filter the 

majority of HGVs via the Foxdells Business Park rather 

than Caxton Hill. 

 

The Service Manager (Development Management) said 

that the proposals would not have an undue impact on 

residential amenity and overall were considered to 

accord to the relevant District Plan policies. Officers 

were therefore recommending the application for 

approval subject to any necessary mitigations detailed 

in the conditions and the Section 106 legal agreement. 

 

Members were referred to minor amendments in the 

addendum including minor changes to the drafting of 

some of the conditions and a further condition 

requested by the Environmental Health Officer in 

respect of addressing and improving air quality.  A 

further condition was also being added to require nine 

integrated Swift boxes to be incorporated into the 

development and a change was proposed to a Section 

106 contribution following a late representation from 

the highway authority. 

 

Mr David Saull and Mr Rob Lines addressed the 

Committee in objection to the application. Mr Stuart 

Atkinson spoke for the application. Councillor Goodeve 

addressed the Committee as the local ward Member. 

 

The Legal Services Manager explained that matters in 

respect of land ownership were not a material 

planning consideration. This was a separate legal 

Page 19



DM  DM 
 
 

 

 

private issue that did not prevent Members from 

determining the application. 

 

The Service Manager (Development Management) said 

that given the size of the buildings she was sure that 

more Swift boxes could be accommodated on the 

buildings. She said that the conditions could be 

amended to that effect. 

 

Members were advised that John Tate Road was a 

private road, and it was not adopted by the highway 

authority. The responsibility for that road lies with the 

management company for the business park and the 

industrial estate. Members were advised that no 

concerns had been expressed by the highway 

authority. 

 

The Service Manager (Development Management) said 

that the on-site parking provision was considered 

sufficient. She said that more spaces would 

compromise the amount of landscaping on the site 

and would conflict with ambitions in respect of 

encouraging walking and cycling. 

 

Members were advised that the access from John Tate 

Road onto the A414 had not been the subject of any 

concerns from the highway authority. There was a 

condition requiring that the main southern access onto 

Foxholes Business Park must be completed prior to 

the first occupation of the development. 

 

The Service Manager (Development Management) said 

there was a traffic monitoring programme condition, 

and this had been requested by the highway authority. 

Page 20



DM  DM 
 
 

 

 

This condition would have to demonstrate how those 

impacts would be mitigated. 

 

Members were advised that the installation of bollards 

would prevent rat running. The Service Manager 

(Development Management) detailed the access and 

egress points for cars and HGVs. She also detailed the 

access points for pedestrians and cyclists. 

 

Councillor Ruffles referred to a pedestrian access 

across the rear of the site from Woodlands Road 

through to Brookside or London Road. He said that 

this was still used up as far as the traffic barriers where 

pedestrians then used the roadways of the business 

park out on to London Road. 

 

The Service Manager (Development Management) said 

that she had spoken to the applicant and she was 

satisfied that this route would not be impacted by the 

proposed development. Councillor Page asked for 

some clarity is respect of the language used in respect 

of modal filters and bollards. He asked about the 

consequences of modal filters and any evidence 

provided Hertfordshire Highways in terms of the 

access and egress onto the roundabout on to the A414 

being compromised. 

 

The Service Manager (Development Management) said 

that modal filters could be bollards, or a combination 

of bollards and hard and soft landscaping to prevent 

vehicular access. She said that condition 16 had been 

included requiring details of the design of the modal 

filters to be submitted. Members were advised that the 

Page 21



DM  DM 
 
 

 

 

highway authority would be consulted on their 

acceptability. 

 

Members were advised that Hertfordshire Highways 

had assessed the impacts on the A414 junction and 

Officers had not raised any objections regarding the 

level of traffic in terms of harm to the highway network 

or congestion. 

 

Councillor Beckett commented positively in respect of 

the application regarding water run-off, green roofs, 

BREEAM excellence and photo voltaic panels. The 

Service Manager (Development Management) said that 

condition 19 did allow the opportunity for an 

improvement in energy performance and in particular 

some consideration of green roofs and more photo 

voltaic panels. 

 

Councillor Crystall expressed a concern in respect of 

the modal filters causing significant problems for the 

town centre. He asked if additional swift and bat boxes 

could be sought via the conditions and he felt it would 

be fantastic if a crossing could be included for children 

walking to school. 

 

The Service Manager (Development Management) said 

that condition 15 required details of habitat boxes and 

this could be amended to be more specific in respect 

of bat boxes. She referred to party wall agreements 

and talked about the two-tier process whereby 

applications had been submitted on areas of land not 

owned by an applicant. 

 

Page 22



DM  DM 
 
 

 

 

The Service Manager (Development Management) said 

that conditions in respect of modal filters were very 

explicit and they had to be implemented prior to first 

occupation and the applicant would have to apply to 

amend those conditions. 

 

Councillors Kemp, Fernando and Page made 

comments in respect of brownfield sites, local jobs, 

ridge heights and the mitigation of this impact on the 

houses on Brookside and in respect of rat running 

through Caxton Hill. 

 

The Service Manager (Development Manager) said that 

the fluorocarbon buildings maybe under the same 

ownership and could use the route through the site. 

She said that the site was set lower than the properties 

on Brookside and the proposed units were very similar 

in scale as number of the units on Foxholes Business 

Park. Members were advised that the landscape on the 

buffer strip would soften the visual impact of the 

proposed buildings. 

 

Councillor Andrews proposed and Councillor Beckett 

seconded, a motion that application 3/22/2200/FUL be 

granted planning permission, subject to a Section 106 

legal agreement and the conditions set out at the end 

of the report, subject to the following amendments: 

 

 The number of habitat (bat and swift) boxes be 

increased to 20 in the conditions 

 Modal filters condition be amended to include an 

explicit reference to motorbikes and electric 

scooters; 

Page 23



DM  DM 
 
 

 

 

 BREEAM condition 19 to include exploring 

opportunities for Green Roofs and UPV Panels 

 Officers to talk to the developer in respect of the 

footpath across the rear of the site from 

Woodlands Road through to Brookside or London 

Road 

 

After being put to the meeting and a vote taken, the 

motion was declared CARRIED. 

 

RESOLVED – that in respect of application 

3/22/2200/FUL, planning permission be granted 

subject to a Section 106 legal agreement and the 

conditions set out at the end of the report, 

subject to the following amendments: 

 

 The number of habitat (bat and swift) boxes 

be increased to 20 in the conditions 

 Modal filters condition be amended to 

include an explicit reference to motorbikes 

and electric scooters; 

 BREEAM condition 19 to include exploring 

opportunities for Green Roofs and UPV 

Panels 

 Officers to talk to the developer in respect 

of the footpath across the rear of the site 

from Woodlands Road through to Brookside 

or London Road. 

 

424   MINUTES - 23 MARCH 2023  

 

 

 The approval of the minutes had been moved down 

the Agenda on the advice of the Legal Services 

Manager following comments from Councillors 

 

Page 24



DM  DM 
 
 

 

 

Andrews, Kemp and Redfern in respect of the accuracy 

of the minutes. 
 

The Legal Services Manager suggested that there be a 

5-minute adjournment for the Democratic Services 

Officer to liaise with Councillor Kemp as to the 

revisions that he would like to that part of the minutes.  

 

Councillor Beckett proposed and Councillor Fernando 

seconded, a motion for an adjournment from 21:40 to 

21:45. After being put to the meeting and a vote taken, 

the motion was declared CARRIED. 

 

RESOLVED – that the meeting be adjourned for 

5 minutes from 21:40 to 21:45. 

 

The meeting reconvened at 21:45. 

 

Councillor Redfern proposed and Councillor Page 

seconded, a motion that the Minutes of the meeting 

held on 23 March 2023 be confirmed as a correct 

record and signed by the Chairman, subject to the 

following amendment: 

 

Minute 416 – 3/19/2124/OUT - Outline Planning 

Application at Land Off Church Lane, North of The 

A414, Hunsdon And Eastwick, Hertfordshire: 

 

Delete in 62nd paragraph – ‘Councillor Kemp said that 

the conditions should not rule out the use of Church 

Lane, Hunsdon was not ruled out as a possible 

alternative route for through traffic.’ 

 

Page 25



DM  DM 
 
 

 

 

Replace with – ‘Councillor Kemp said that the 

conditions should not rule out the use of Church Lane 

as a possible alternative route for through traffic to 

Hunsdon and the Hadhams, regardless of the route of 

the STC, to avoid unnecessary vehicular traffic through 

the centre of Village 7. Officers confirmed that the 

existing route of Church Lane was not ruled out as a 

possible alternative route for through traffic.’ 

 

After being put to the meeting and a vote taken, the 

motion was declared CARRIED. Councillor Newton 

abstained from voting as she had not been present at 

the meeting on 23 March 2023. 

 

RESOLVED – that the Minutes of the meeting 

held on 23 March 2023 be confirmed as a 

correct record and signed by the Chairman, 

subject to the following amendment: 

 

Minute 416 – 3/19/2124/OUT - Outline Planning 

Application at Land Off Church Lane, North of 

The A414, Hunsdon And Eastwick, Hertfordshire: 

 

Delete in 62nd paragraph – ‘Councillor Kemp said 

that the conditions should not rule out the use 

of Church Lane, Hunsdon was not ruled out as a 

possible alternative route for through traffic.’ 

 

Replace with – ‘Councillor Kemp said that the 

conditions should not rule out the use of Church 

Lane as a possible alternative route for through 

traffic to Hunsdon and the Hadhams, regardless 

of the route of the STC, to avoid unnecessary 

vehicular traffic through the centre of Village 7. 

Page 26



DM  DM 
 
 

 

 

Officers confirmed that the existing route of 

Church Lane was not ruled out as a possible 

alternative route for through traffic.’ 

 

425   URGENT BUSINESS  

 

 

 There was no urgent business. Councillor Deering 

thanked any member of the public that had 

participated in the meetings of the Development 

Management Committee. 

 

Councillor Deering said that he was pleased to inform 

Members that at 2 am this morning he became a 

grandfather for the second time and he now had two 

granddaughters. 

 

 

The meeting closed at 9.47 pm 

 

 

Chairman ............................................................ 

 

Date  ............................................................ 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 27



 

  

East Herts Council Report  
 

Development Management Committee 

 

Date of Meeting:  19 July 2023 

 

Report by:   Sara Saunders, Head of Planning and Building 

    Control 

 

Report title:  Planning Applications for Consideration by the 

    Committee 

 

Ward(s) affected: All 
       

 

Summary 
 

 This report is to enable planning and related applications and 

unauthorised development matters to be considered and 

determined by the Committee, as appropriate, or as set out for 

each agenda item. 
 

RECOMMENDATIONS FOR DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT 

COMMITTEE:  

 

A recommendation is detailed separately for each application 

and determined by the Committee, as appropriate, or as set out 

for each agenda item. 
 

1.0 Proposal(s) 
 

1.1 The proposals are set out in detail in the individual reports. 

 

2.0 Background 
 

2.1 The background in relation to each planning application and 

enforcement matter included in this agenda is set out in the 

individual reports. 

Page 28

Agenda Item 6



 

  

 

3.0  Reason(s) 
 

3.1 No. 

 

4.0  Options 
 

4.1 As detailed separately in relation to each matter if any are 

appropriate. 

 

5.0  Risks 
 

5.1 As detailed separately in relation to each matter if any are 

appropriate. 

 

6.0  Implications/Consultations 
 

6.1 As detailed separately in relation to each matter if any are 

appropriate. 

 

Community Safety 

As detailed separately in relation to each matter if any are 

appropriate. 

 

Data Protection 

As detailed separately in relation to each matter if any are 

appropriate. 

 

Equalities 

As detailed separately in relation to each matter if any are 

appropriate. 

 

Environmental Sustainability 

As detailed separately in relation to each matter if any are 

appropriate. 
 

Financial 

As detailed separately in relation to each matter if any are 

Page 29



 

  

appropriate. 

 

Health and Safety 

As detailed separately in relation to each matter if any are 

appropriate. 

 

Human Resources 

As detailed separately in relation to each matter if any are 

appropriate. 

 

Human Rights 

As detailed separately in relation to each matter if any are 

appropriate. 

 

Legal 

As detailed separately in relation to each matter if any are 

appropriate. 

 

Specific Wards 

As detailed separately in relation to each matter if any are 

appropriate. 

 

7.0  Background papers, appendices and other relevant 

material 
 

7.1  The papers which comprise each application/ unauthorised 

development file.  In addition, the East of England Plan, 

Hertfordshire County Council’s Minerals and Waste 

documents, the East Hertfordshire Local Plan and, where 

appropriate, the saved policies from the Hertfordshire County 

Structure Plan,  comprise background papers where the 

provisions of the Development Plan are material planning 

issues. 

 

7.2 Display of Plans  

 

7.3 Plans for consideration at this meeting are available online.  An 

Officer will be present from 6.30 pm to advise on any plans relating 

Page 30



 

  

to schemes on strategic sites.  A selection of plans will be displayed 

electronically at the meeting.  Members are reminded that those 

displayed do not constitute the full range of plans submitted for 

each matter and they should ensure they view the full range of 

plans online prior to the meeting. 

 

7.4 All of the plans and associated documents on any of the planning 

applications included in the agenda can be viewed at: 

https://publicaccess.eastherts.gov.uk/online-applications/ 

 

Contact Member Councillor Vicky Glover-Ward, Executive 

Member for Planning and Growth 

jan.goodeve@eastherts.gov.uk 
 

Contact Officer   Sara Saunders, Head of Planning and Building 

Control, Tel: 01992 531656 

  sara.saunders@eastherts.gov.uk  

 

Report Author  Peter Mannings, Democratic Services Officer, 

    Tel: 01279 502174 

 peter.mannings@eastherts.gov.uk 

Page 31

https://publicaccess.eastherts.gov.uk/online-applications/
mailto:jan.goodeve@eastherts.gov.uk
mailto:sara.saunders@eastherts.gov.uk
mailto:peter.mannings@eastherts.gov.uk


DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE – 19 JULY 2023 
 

Application 

Number 

3/22/2534/FUL 

Proposal Removal of five temporary buildings, erection of a Sports 

Hall with reception and administrative areas, amendments 

to vehicular parking and circulation, improvements to 

security and pedestrian connectivity, together with hard 

and soft landscaping and associated works 

Location Simon Balle All-through School, Mangrove Road, Hertford 

Hertfordshire, SG13 8AJ 

Parish Hertford Town Council 

Ward Hertford Castle Ward 
 

Date of Registration of 

Application 

9th December 2022 

Target Determination Date 10th March 2023 

Reason for Committee 

Report 

Major application  

Case Officer Maya Cullen 
 
 

RECOMMENDATION 

 

That planning permission be GRANTED subject to the conditions set out at 

the end of this report. That delegated authority is granted to the Head of 

Planning and Building Control to finalise the detail of the conditions as set 

out. 

 

1.0 Summary of Proposal and Main Issues 

 

1.1 The application proposals seek full planning permission for the 

removal of three temporary school buildings and the erection of a 

Sports Hall with reception and administrative areas. Various 

amendments to vehicular parking and circulation, improvements to 

security and pedestrian routes, together with hard and soft 

landscaping and associated works are also proposed. 

 

1.2 The school currently occupies a large site of 11.8ha located between 

Mangrove Road and Balls Park. Most school buildings are to the 
Page 32

Agenda Item 6a



Application Number: 3/22/2534/FUL 

 

north of the site, set behind a parking area, as seen from Mangrove 

Road. To the rear and south are playing fields and landscaped areas.  

 

1.3 The existing buildings to be demolished are all located towards the 

front of the site, behind the existing parking area and in front of the 

main school buildings. They are single storey buildings of a 

temporary appearance and are used as two classrooms and a store. 

There are a further two temporary buildings which are confirmed to 

be used as storage which will be dismantled in addition to the larger 

three buildings as part of the permission. These buildings would be 

replaced by one building to provide a sports hall (approx. 12m in 

height) with a reception area and administrative area wrapping 

around the front and side (approx. 4m in height). 

 

1.4 The landscaping changes include the creation of a new “calm garden” 

on the main circulation route into the school and improvement of 

that route for pedestrians. Other pedestrian routes would be 

upgraded through improved surfaces and the school’s secure 

gateline would be rationalised. This landscaping would result in the 

loss of 5 trees and their replacement with approximately 14 new 

trees. The replacement trees are located to the new “calm garden” 

area and to the southeast of the site at the new car parking area.   

 

1.5 The carparking layout to the front would be changed, with the 

existing 133 spaces reduced to 116, with space for deliveries and 

minibus parking as well as 11 pickup point spaces. Finally, the 

overflow parking area to the south would be reconfigured and 

slightly expanded to result in 60 parking spaces compared to the 

existing 43, resulting in a no net loss or gain of parking provision. 

There would be no loss of disabled parking and the re-configuration 

would include four vehicle parking spaces being served by electric 

vehicle charging points. 

 

1.6 The main issues for Members’ consideration are: 

 

 The principle of the development in the Green Belt 

 Design/layout/Impact on landscape and visual amenity  

 Impact on Heritage Assets 
Page 33



Application Number: 3/22/2534/FUL 

 

 Impact on residential amenity 

 Impact on Highway safety/Parking 

 Impact on the natural environment 

 Climate Change/Sustainability 

 Archaeology 

 Flood risk and sustainable drainage 

 

1.7 The site forms part of an existing educational establishment in the 

Green Belt. The proposal would result in the provision of a high 

quality sports hall, to various Sports England standards. This would 

be secure for use by the community by condition. The principle of the 

educational use is therefore already established by the existing use 

of the site, and significant weight is attached to the benefit of the 

improved sports provision. 

 

1.8 The site is considered to be a sustainable location for development, 

already generating a number of trips and is located in an area which 

is accessible by a number of modes of transport.  

 

1.9 The proposal would constitute inappropriate development in the 

Green Belt, which would itself cause harm to the Green Belt. 

Additionally, it would have a negative, albeit limited, impact on the 

openness of the Green Belt. Very significant weight should be put on 

this consideration. 

 

1.10 The building is considered to be well designed, located in one of the 

least-sensitive parts of the site, and would improve the arrival 

sequence for pupils and security of the site. Whilst it is bulky, this is 

inherent in the nature of the building and the external appearance is 

considered to be of a high quality. The landscaping proposals would 

result in an increase in soft landscaping and provision of a new “calm 

garden” on the route into the school.  

 

1.11 The site is located near to a number of heritage assets. Balls Park is a 

Grade II Registered Park, which contains the Grade I Listed Balls Park 

mansion with various other Grade II Listed Buildings set nearby. The 

site is also adjacent to the Hertford Conservation Area. The character 

and appearance of the Conservation Area is considered to be 
Page 34



Application Number: 3/22/2534/FUL 

 

preserved and would have a neutral impact. Overall, whilst the 

Gardens Trust have raised some concerns with the potential views of 

the building from the entrances to Balls Park, the building would be 

read in conjunction with other buildings within the site and wider 

site. As such, the scheme would have a neutral impact on the other 

heritage assets.  

 

1.12 Being located at considerable distance from the nearest residential 

properties, there would be no significant impact on residential 

amenity, and the highways and parking impacts of the proposal 

would be acceptable subject to conditions including the provision of 

a Travel Plan.  

 

1.13 In terms of the impact on the natural environment, the proposal 

would result in an overall improvement to the landscaping of this 

part of the site, with the creation of a “calm garden” and other soft 

landscaping. Two trees would be lost, but eight trees would be 

planted. This area of the site is generally hard-landscaped at the 

moment, so an increase in biodiversity can be secured by condition, 

as recommended by Hertfordshire County Council ecology team.  

 

1.14 The application includes a sustainability statement that sets out that 

a “fabric first” approach would be used to reduce carbon emissions 

and further details of this can be secured by condition. Renewable 

technologies are proposed such as the installation of Solar PV panels. 

As such, the building would incorporate energy efficient measures. 

Other measures including a Travel Plan, cycle parking and electric 

vehicle charging points also contribute to the sustainability of the 

scheme.  

 

1.15 A surface water drainage strategy has been submitted which sets out 

that the proposal can adequately mitigate surface water run-off 

without increasing off-site flood risk. Subject to conditions, this is 

considered to be acceptable. 

 

1.16 It is acknowledged that the proposal causes some harm to the Green 

Belt, although this is considered to be limited. The improved sports 

provision, and community access to these facilities are considered in 
Page 35



Application Number: 3/22/2534/FUL 

 

this instance to amount to Very Special Circumstances which 

outweigh this and other identified harm by way of harm to the 

setting of the registered park and garden “Balls Park” The public 

benefit of providing the new sports centre is considered to outweigh 

the harm to the setting of the designated heritage asset.  

 

2.0 Site and Surroundings 

 

2.1 The school site comprises an all-through school located to the south 

of Hertford, within the Metropolitan Green Belt. Residential 

properties are located to the west and south-west of the application 

site. The application site boundary extends around part of the school 

site and is approximately 1.15 hectares in size and includes the 

existing buildings to be demolished, existing landscaping and parking 

areas to the front of the site and the access road to the further 

overflow parking area to the south of the site, adjacent to an artificial 

grass pitch.  

 

2.2 The site lies adjacent to the Hertford Conservation Area and partially 

within an area of Archaeological Significance. In addition, further to 

the south-east of the site is the Grade II Registered Park and Garden 

‘Balls Park’ where the Grade I Listed Balls Park mansion is situated. In 

addition, the site is also designated as Open Space and Local Green 

Space in the East Herts District Plan 2018. 

 

3.0 Planning History 

 

3.1 The following planning history is of relevance to this proposal: 

 

Application 

Number 

Proposal Decision Date 

3/10/0821/FP Addition on site of a 

mobile cabin to be 

used as an additional 

classroom, which also 

includes two toilets 

and a store room. 

Granted 

with 

conditions 

16th July 

2010 

Page 36



Application Number: 3/22/2534/FUL 

 

3/22/1379/FUL Single storey mobile 

classroom 

Granted 

with 

conditions 

12th 

October 

2022 

 

4.0 Main Policy Issues 

 

4.1 The Development Plan consists of the East Herts District Plan 2018, 

the Herfordshire Minerals Local Plan 2007 and the Hertfordshire 

Waste Development Framework. Section 38 (6) of the Planning and 

Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that decisions on planning 

applications should be made in accordance with the Development 

Plan unless there are material considerations which indicate 

otherwise.  

 

4.2 A number of other policy documents and guidance are relevant 

material considerations including the National Planning Policy 

Framework, the Planning Practice Guidance and Supplementary 

Planning Documents including the adopted Sustainability SPD 2021 

and the adopted Vehicle Parking Provision at New Development SPD 

2008.  

 

4.3 The main policy issues relate to the relevant planning policies in the 

Development Plan as set out below: 

 

Main Issue NPPF East Herts District 

Plan  

Principle of the 

educational and sporting 

use 

Chapter 2, 4, 

6, 8, 9, 11 

INT1, CFLR1, CFLR7, 

CFLR10, TRA1 

Metropolitan Green Belt Chapter 13 GBR1 

Good Design, Landscape 

Character 

Chapter 8, 11, 

12, 15 

DES2, DES3, DES4, 

DES5 

Heritage Chapter 16 HA1, HA3, HA4, 

HA7, HA8 

Residential Amenity  Chapter 4, 12 DES4, EQ2, EQ3 

Highway Safety/Parking Chapter 9 TRA2, TRA3 

Natural Environment Chapter 8, 11, 

12, 15 

NE2, NE3 

Page 37



Application Number: 3/22/2534/FUL 

 

Climate Change / 

sustainability 

Chapter 14 TRA1, CC1, CC2, 

CC3, WAT4, EQ4 

Flood risk and 

sustainable drainage 

Chapter 14 WAT1, WAT2, WAT3, 

WAT5, WAT5 

 

5.0 Summary of Consultee Comments 

 

5.1 Historic England: note the further information submitted following 

previous objections to the application regarding the level of 

assessment and potential impact of the development proposal in the 

setting of the Grade I Listed Balls Park mansion. They note that an 

additional heritage assessment and compute-generated views. They 

note that the views are described as an ‘artistic impression’ and 

whilst helpful, can only be given limited weight. Notwithstanding this, 

they are satisfied that the proposed additional height of the sports 

hall would not fundamentally alter the extent character of the school 

site or appreciation of the mansion in its setting and therefore do not 

object on these grounds. They note that their comments are limited 

to the impact on the significance of the Grade I Listed Balls Park 

mansion and consider the park and garden only because it relates to 

the setting of the house. They defer to The Gardens Trust regarding 

the impact on the Grade II Registered Park and Garden. Overall, 

Historic England does not object to the application on heritage 

grounds and considers that the significance of the mansion would be 

sustained but recommend the LPA’s specialist conservation advisers 

are given the opportunity to agree the details of the proposal prior to 

or as a condition of any consent. 

 

5.2 Hertfordshire Gardens Trust: note the submission of additional 

Historic Impact Assessment and Visual Impact documents. They 

consider that the Grade I Listed mansion and Grade II Ben’s Cottage 

would suffer harm from the development due to the height and bulk 

of the proposed development, they concur with Historic England’s 

response and would not object on those grounds. Notwithstanding 

this, they consider that the views across the parkland from the 

entrance drives of the Historic Park would suffer considerable harm 

from the development with an inappropriately scaled built feature 

intruding into the views and the setting of the Registered parkland. 
Page 38



Application Number: 3/22/2534/FUL 

 

 

5.3 HCC Historic Environment Unit: note that the site is adjacent to an 

Area of Archaeological Significance identified in the East 

Hertfordshire District Plan. This denotes the estate belonging to Balls 

Park and includes Balls Park manor house itself [Historic 

Environment Record no. 4010], its associated ornamental gardens 

[HER 7316] and estate buildings such as the Stable Block [HER 16740] 

and Lime Cottage [HER 15543]. The icehouse for this estate [HER 

1719] is known to have been sited on land now belonging to the 

school. This Area of Archaeological Significance also holds evidence 

of prehistoric settlement in the form of both finds and features. A 

Neolithic/Bronze Age pit [HER 17458] was investigated within the 

vicinity of Lime Cottage, a Late Bronze Age settlement site is known 

at Mangrove road [HER 12739] and Iron Age ditches are known in 

several places through the park [HER 13560, HER 13561, HER 18508].  

 

5.4 They consider that this record is supported by the finds of the 

archaeological work undertaken in 2014/15 on the section of the 

Simon Balle school site immediately to the south-east of the 

proposed scheme. During these excavations evidence was found of 

Neolithic activity, Bronze Age funerary deposition in the form of 

cremation burials and possible settlement activity, a Roman trackway 

and structure, and Medieval and Post-medieval pits and ditches. 

Some of the linear features found in these excavations (Oxford 

Archaeology, 2019) would be expected to extend into the area now 

proposed for development under this application.  

 

5.5 Evidently, the site of Simon Balle School maintains a moderate to 

high potential for prehistoric to Medieval archaeological material, a 

view supported by the Cultural Heritage Desk Based Assessment 

submitted in support of this application (RPS, 2022). However, as this 

DBA also makes note of, there has been prior building work 

throughout the 20th century on this portion of the site which may 

have previously reduced the preservation of any below-ground 

archaeological remains. They therefore consider that the proposal 

would likely impact on heritage assets of archaeological interest and 

as such an archaeology condition should be added to any grant of 

permission.  
Page 39



Application Number: 3/22/2534/FUL 

 

 

5.6 EHDC Conservation and Urban Design Team: note that the three 

temporary buildings are not of any significance and their removal is 

acceptable. They note that the new building would include a sports 

hall, reception, changing facilities, toilets and an equipment store. 

The need for a new sports hall is demonstrated in the submitted 

documents; the school does not have a Sport England compliant 

sports hall and some events are required to be hosted off site. The 

uses contained in the sports centre will require it to have a large 

footprint and height. They note that the sports hall would be on part 

of the footprint of the existing buildings that would be demolished 

and would be seen in the context of the hub of other school 

buildings. Due to the height of the proposed sports hall, it would be 

highly visible along Mangrove Road but consider that the 

architectural design approach has been well considered, particularly 

when viewed from Mangrove Road while also responding to the 

existing buildings on the site. They consider the brickwork to be 

acceptable as well as the woodland patterned perforated bronze 

finish to the first floor. They consider that the detailed material 

specification and artistic pictures on the panelling should be 

conditioned as well as the detailed design of the ventilation shafts on 

the roof. 

 

5.7 They note that the proposal includes an assessment of key views and 

how these would be impacted by the proposals and consider that 

whilst the new building would be visible from some viewpoints, it 

would not be a dominant feature which detracts from the character 

and appearance of the Conservation Area and Balls Park. With 

regards to landscaping, some new landscaping has been included but 

they consider that a detailed landscape plan should be conditioned 

to support the design of new areas of parking. This should include 

new shrub and tree planting rather than grass landscaping as 

currently shown.  

 

5.8 Overall, they advise that the application is acceptable, subject to the 

recommended conditions above as well as other conditions relating 

to details of hard surfacing, materials of construction, landscape 

Page 40



Application Number: 3/22/2534/FUL 

 

works implementation, details of solar panels and details of the 

design of the roof ventilation shafts. 

 

5.9 EHDC Landscape Officer: advises that the arboricultural impact 

assessment is acceptable and there would be no unacceptable 

adverse arboricultural impact. They also consider the proposed Site 

Plan is acceptable and the indicative landscape proposals are OK. 

However, there is a lack of landscape details/specifications and a 

more detailed plan is needed. They also question the viability of the 

proposed trees in the car park as they are likely to be vulnerable to 

damage by cars, especially when young. There does not appear to be 

sufficient tree surrounds allowed and establishment of root systems 

may be challenging as the soil beneath the parking area is likely to be 

dry and inhospitable for roots unless a water permeable surface is 

provided. They consider that more detailed information is needed 

which could be secured by condition. 

 

5.10 HCC Ecology Unit: advise that there is sufficient information on 

ecology to enable determination of the application. The 

recommendations and mitigation measures in the ecology report 

(Section 6 of Ecological Impact Assessment, November 2022 

prepared by Liz Lake Associates) should be followed as well as a 

condition for a Landscape Plan or Biodiversity Plan to show native 

tree species and planting of benefit to wildlife/pollinators. They 

consider that the report provides an adequate assessment of the 

impact of the proposals and is based on appropriate survey methods 

and effort. 

 

5.11 HCC Lead Local Flood Authority: acknowledge the technical note 

addendum to account for the local flood risk issues and surface 

water drainage at this location. They acknowledge that a technical 

note addendum including new drainage layout drawings has been 

provided that satisfies the previous concerns raised in their last 

response. 

 

5.12 They have no objection subject to conditions being attached to any 

consent if this application is approved. The suggested conditions 

include compliance with the Flood Risk Assessment, Surface Water 
Page 41



Application Number: 3/22/2534/FUL 

 

Strategy and SuDS Report and the technical note addendum; the 

submission of a Construction Phase Environmental management 

Plan to ensure the construction of the site does not result in any 

flooding both on and off site, drainage details and 

management/maintenance details of SuDS following completion of 

drainage works. The LLFA consider that if the following conditions are 

not included, the development would be contrary to NPPF and local 

planning policy WAT 1, WAT 2, WAT 3, WAT 4, WAT 5 and would object 

until such time that the details below are submitted for review. 

 

5.13 HCC Highway Authority: advise that they do not wish to restrict the 

grant of permission subject to conditions and informatives. They note 

that to improve safety and accessibility for the school, measures 

were implemented in 2016/2017. They also commented that the 

proposals do not result in an increase in the number of students or 

staff at the school and would not likely generate additional school 

trips. They note that there are 176 existing spaces with 7 disabled 

bays and the reconfiguration of the car park would result in 176 

spaces with 6 dedicated disabled bays but note that the decision lies 

with the LPA to determine the suitability of car parking proposals. 

The Highway Authority also note that additional cycle parking is 

proposed adjacent to the new Sports Hall and the designated 

delivery area/minibus drop off. They consider that the proposed 

reconfigured parking arrangements would require efficient 

management, particularly during special sports events, school drop 

off and pick up times. As such, they recommend the inclusion of a 

condition that a Parking Management Plan is submitted to ensure all 

vehicles accessing and using the site do so safely and conveniently. 

They also consider that an updated Travel Plan is required which can 

be secured by condition as well as a Construction Traffic 

Management Plan to ensure that construction vehicles would not 

have a detrimental impact on Mangrove Road and the vicinity of the 

site. Another condition is recommended for details of the proposed 

pedestrian access/onsite car and cycle 

parking/servicing/loading/unloading and turning areas to be 

submitted and approved in writing prior to the first use of the 

development. Informatives relating to the storage of materials, 

Page 42



Application Number: 3/22/2534/FUL 

 

obstruction of public highway land, road deposits and school travel 

plan should be added to any grant of permission.  

 

5.14 EHDC Environmental Health Unit (Noise and Nuisance): previously 

recommended refusal of the application based on a lack of sufficient 

information with regards to the noise impact as no noise impact 

assessment had been provided nor were any mitigation measures 

proposed. They have since reconsidered the application and after 

reviewing Inhabit report reference 7330-RPT-AC001[00] have no 

objections subject to conditions and informatives. These include 

conditions for external noise from plant machinery, permitted hours 

for building work, notification to neighbours of building works, dust 

control, waste management and disposal, piling works, floodlights 

and other external lighting details and an informative relating to 

noise and vibration control. 

 

5.15 EHDC Environmental Health Unit (Contaminated Land and Air 

Quality): advise that the proposal is acceptable subject to a condition 

relating to unexpected land contamination. 

 

5.16 Thames Water: advise that if the developer follows the sequential 

approach to the disposal of surface water then they would have no 

objection. They would expect the developer to demonstrate what 

measures will be undertaken to minimise groundwater discharges 

into the public sewer. Groundwater discharges typically result from 

construction site dewatering, deep excavations, basement infiltration, 

borehole installation, testing and site remediation. With regard to 

waste water network and sewage treatment works / infrastructure 

capacity, Thames Water have no objection to the above planning 

application, based on the information provided. 

 

(Note: EHDC, East Herts District Council; HCC, Hertfordshire County 

Council) 

 

 

 

6.0 Town/Parish Council Representations 

 
Page 43



Application Number: 3/22/2534/FUL 

 

6.1 Hertford Town Council No objection to the proposal. The committee 

strongly support this application to upgrade sport facilities at the 

school. They would also like reassurance that the swimming pool will 

be maintained and enhanced as part of this. The committee also 

welcomed the provision of porous driveways and surfacing. They felt 

that the travel plan is very descriptive but no suggestive forms of 

encouragement is given on how to reduce the use of motorised 

vehicles. Composite would welcome encouragement that the school 

can provide to users of the facilities both during school hours and 

during community use outside school hours. 

 

7.0 Summary of Other Representations 

 

7.1 The application was advertised by both site notice and press notice. 

45 neighbouring properties were written to. 0 responses were 

received.  

 

8.0 Consideration of issues 

 

Principle of development 

 

Proposed Use 

 

8.1 Policy CFLR1 of the EHDP 2018 promotes the provision of 

recreational and sports facilities where they meet identified need and 

are in sustainable locations. It also promotes the use of such facilities 

for the wider community. CLFR10 supports proposals for educational 

facilities and similarly endorses wider community use.  

 

8.2 The proposal constitutes educational facilities, mainly in the form of a 

sports hall. The wider site is already in educational use, and so as 

such, this educational facility is acceptable in principle.  

 

8.3 Furthermore Paragraph 95 of the NPPF states that great weight 

should be placed on the need to create or alter educational facilities 

to meet a need. The submitted planning statement indicates that the 

School’s existing indoor Sports Hall was built in the 1950s and has 

become unsuitable to host competitive fixtures with all home fixtures 
Page 44



Application Number: 3/22/2534/FUL 

 

hosted by another school in Ware. It also notes that the main 

entrance to the school buildings is poorly designed, and from a 

security and child safeguarding perspective is substandard. 

Reception and administrative areas are set within an internal 

courtyard in the centre of the site and therefore all visitors must 

traverse the school grounds to report to reception. The dated 

facilities are supplemented by three temporary structures located to 

the ‘front’ of the school site. The planning statement also confirms 

that a Capacity Report was undertaken in March 2020 which 

concluded that a deficit existed in terms of the amount of hall, dining 

and PE space throughout the school. The benefits associated with 

providing a new sports hall would be that the school would have 

sports hall that is sized in accordance with Sport England guidance 

for a four-court badminton hall. In addition, there would be less need 

for pupils/sports teams to travel to nearby schools in Ware for 

fixtures and other parts of the site would be improved through better 

site security as the main office/reception would be located to the 

front of the site. There would also be the added benefit of providing 

a sports facility which could be used by the community, providing a 

flexible use facility in accordance with policy CFLR1 of the District 

Plan.  

 

8.4 As such, the principle of the use on this site is well established. 

Officers are satisfied that the proposal would provide for a significant 

improvement in educational and sporting facilities and that this 

clearly meets a demonstrated need. Through conditions, the use of 

the facilities for the wider community can be secured. Officers 

recommend that this weighs significantly in support of the proposal. 

 

Sustainable location of development 

 

8.5 The planning system operates on the basis of a presumption in 

favour of sustainable development, which is embedded in the NPPF 

and policy INT1 of the EHDP. Furthermore, Policy TRA1 of the EHDP 

encourages developments to occur in sustainable locations.    

 

8.6 This facility would be located on an existing school site, in an area 

which is generally accessible by a variety of modes of transport. As 
Page 45



Application Number: 3/22/2534/FUL 

 

such, it is considered to be a sustainable location for development as 

the primary users of the site (school pupils) are likely to often already 

be at the site, there are a range of other services located in the broad 

area and other uses (the wider community) can travel to the site by a 

variety of means. 

 

Metropolitan Green Belt 

 

8.7 The site lies within the Metropolitan Green Belt where Policy GBR1 of 

the District Plan applies, which refers to the guidance in the NPPF. 

Paragraph 147 of the NPPF states that inappropriate development is, 

by definition, harmful to the Green Belt and should not be approved 

except in very special circumstances. In addition, paragraph 149 

states that the construction of new buildings should be regarded as 

inappropriate in the Green Belt unless one of the exceptions it states 

applies. These exceptions include criterion (d)  and (g) which allow 

for: 

 

(d) The replacement of a building, provided the new building is in the 

same use and not materially larger than the one it replaces.  

(g) … partial or complete redevelopment of previously developed land, 

whether redundant or in continuing use (excluding temporary buildings),  

which would: 

‒ not have a greater impact on the openness of the Green Belt than the  

existing development; … 

 

8.8 The building would be used primarily for the school and would not 

result in a change of use, however only one of the buildings to be 

demolished has permanent planning permission (being granted 

planning permission under planning ref: 3/10/0821/FP). As such, the 

proposed new building would be significantly larger,  resulting in a 

volume increase of approximately 2187% above the existing 

permanent building (this is largely a consequence of the new sports 

hall being an additional storey and having a greater floor space). As 

such, the proposal constitutes inappropriate development which is 

harmful to the Green Belt, and which paragraph 148 of the NPPF says 

should be given substantial weight. 

 
Page 46



Application Number: 3/22/2534/FUL 

 

8.9 Consideration needs to be given to the impact of the scheme on the 

openness of the Green Belt, this (and permanence) being the 

essential characteristics of the Green Belt, as set out in paragraph 

137 of the NPPF.  

 

8.10 The footprint of the existing buildings to be demolished amounts to 

approximately 336.1 square metres and the new building would have 

a footprint of approximately 1161 square metres. As such, there 

would be a spatial impact on the openness of the Green Belt through 

the increase in built form within the site. This spatial harm is however 

limited given that the building is adjacent to other permanent 

buildings. In addition, there would likely be some visual harm to the 

impact on the openness of the Green Belt, as the structure would be 

taller than the single storey buildings which it would replace. The 

most likely visible view is from Mangrove Road and from the private 

track to the southeast of the building, where there would likely be an 

introduction of built form that would be more visible than the 

existing structures, given the single storey nature of the existing 

structures.  However, given the context of the site, with the land 

being previously developed, the proposed new sports hall would be 

viewed within the context of other buildings within the school site. As 

such, it is considered that the impact on the openness of the Green 

Belt is low.  

 

8.11 The proposal would therefore result in inappropriate development 

within the Green Belt and would result in some limited harm to 

openness. The NPPF advises that in these circumstances, proposals 

should only be granted planning permission in very special 

circumstances where the harm to the Green Belt by 

inappropriateness, and any other harm resulting from the proposal, 

is clearly outweighed by other considerations. As such, in order for 

the proposal to be acceptable, very special circumstances are needed 

to outweigh these two elements of harm.  The school has identified a 

lack of appropriate sports hall provision with the current sports hall 

not being Sport England compliant. The proposed new sports hall is 

located within the school grounds, in a sustainable location and 

would be of an appropriate size to enable the school to host sports 

fixtures, reducing the need to travel elsewhere. As such there are 
Page 47



Application Number: 3/22/2534/FUL 

 

benefits in terms of health and education. In addition, other public 

benefits are that the sports hall could be used by other members of 

the community outside of the school day, and a community use 

agreement condition is recommended to secure this. This is 

considered to constitute very special circumstances sufficient to 

outweigh the relatively limited harm to the Green Belt.  As such, the 

proposal is considered to accord with Policy GBR1 and Section 13 of 

the NPPF.  

 

Conclusions relating to principle of the use 

 

8.12 The proposed use as a sports building is strongly supported in 

principle and would lead to educational, leisure, health, community 

and sporting benefits. Its location is considered to be sustainable and 

the positive benefits identified above are considered to constitute 

very special circumstances that makes the proposal acceptable on 

Green Belt grounds. 

 

Design/layout/Impact on landscape and visual amenity  

 

8.13 The proposed section ‘b’ drawing shows that the application site is on 

slightly higher land than Mangrove Road and the building would have 

a total height of approximately 10 metres (11.8 metres including the 

chimneys) and would have a parapet, giving the appearance of a flat 

roof. There would also be a number of other single storey structures 

to the front, west and rear of the building which would provide the 

abovementioned further ancillary accommodation. A materials board 

has been provided which includes brickwork that would be similar in 

appearance to Mangrove Road and shows cladding in bronze 

perforate panels depicting a woodland pattern. 

 

8.14 The introduction of a much larger building would add massing to the 

site, especially when viewed from Mangrove Road, however the 

building would be set back from the street by approximately 37 

metres, with the single storey elements of the building being sited in 

front of the taller part of the building which are considered to reduce 

the bulk and massing of the building. The materials of construction 

are considered to be high quality and would draw on features from 
Page 48



Application Number: 3/22/2534/FUL 

 

within the surrounding area such as the buff brickwork which would 

be similar to the wall, adjacent to Mangrove House. The perforated 

bronze-coloured cladding panels would be a more modern addition 

but would be appropriate to the character of the area and would 

have a neutral impact given the school setting.   

 

8.15 The layout of the site is considered to be acceptable, with the tallest 

parts of the building being sited to the rear of the site. The “calm 

garden” area is a welcomed addition, providing additional soft 

landscaping and the layout of the parking area is appropriate, with 

facilities for deliveries and minibuses. The increase in parking 

provision to the southeast of the site is considered to be acceptable 

and the additional planting as shown in the proposed site plan would 

help to soften the views of the hard surfacing from the private track 

to the south of the site.  

 

8.16 Overall, the proposed development would result in a change to the 

character and appearance of the street scene but this is not 

considered to be harmful and subject to soft landscaping and high 

quality materials, samples of which can be secured by condition, the 

proposal is considered to accord with Policy DES2, DES3 and DES4 of 

the District Plan.  

 

Impact on Heritage Assets 

 

8.17 As previously stated, the site lies adjacent to the Hertford 

Conservation Area and to the south-west of the site is the Grade II 

Registered Park and Garden ‘Balls Park’ where the Grade I Listed Balls 

Park mansion is situated as well as other Grade II Listed Buildings 

and walled gardens within the Historic Balls Park.  

 

8.18 Historic England and the Hertfordshire Gardens Trust were consulted 

on the application and originally objected to the proposal due to a 

lack of information in relation to the heritage assessment and was 

not clear what evidence the assessment was based on nor what 

viewpoints were taken to determine there would be no impact. 

Historic England requested further information on the impacts upon 

Balls Park mansion and the registered park and garden be submitted 
Page 49



Application Number: 3/22/2534/FUL 

 

for the proposal to be acceptable. The Hertfordshire Gardens Trust 

also raised an objection that there was no analysis undertaken of 

views to or from the Registered Park and Garden and little mention 

of views from the adjacent Conservation Area.  

 

8.19 Further information has been provided including an updated 

heritage impact assessment and a visual impact study and Historic 

England and The Gardens Trust re-consulted. Historic England now 

remove their objection and are satisfied that the proposed additional 

height of the sports hall would not fundamentally alter the extant 

character of the school site or appreciation of the mansion in its 

setting. The Hertfordshire Gardens Trust note that whilst they 

consider that the Grade I listed mansion and Grade II Ben’s Cottage 

would suffer harm from the development due to the height and bulk 

of the proposed development, they would not object on these 

grounds. They do however consider that the views across the 

parkland from the entrance drives would suffer considerable harm 

from the development with an inappropriately scaled built feature 

intruding into the views and the setting of the Registered parkland.  

 

8.20 These comments from the Gardens Trust are noted and given some 

weight, however it is considered that the building has been 

sensitively located and situated towards the front of the site, furthest 

away from the Historic Park and Garden when compared to 

alternative locations to the rear of the site. The Conservation Officer 

also notes that although the supporting documents show that the 

new building would be visible from some viewpoints, it would not be 

a dominant feature which detracts from the character and 

appearance of the conservation area and Balls Park – indeed it does 

not appear that the sports hall would be visible in any key views from 

the Park which do not already contain some built form. The planning 

officer has visited the site and also viewed the site from the pathway 

within Balls Park which runs along the eastern boundary of the 

sports fields as well as from the entrance gates to the park. It is 

noted that the boundary is highly vegetated and the existing sports 

hall and other building within the school grounds are visible from the 

site. The planning officer agrees that the proposed new sports hall 

due to its siting to the front of the site and the presence of 
Page 50



Application Number: 3/22/2534/FUL 

 

surrounding built form, would be acceptable and would not harm the 

setting of the Registered Park and Garden. The impact on the settings 

of Listed Buildings is also considered to be acceptable.  

 

8.21 With regards to the impact on the Hertford Conservation Area, the 

Conservation Officer notes that the proposal would be highly visible 

but considers that the architectural design approach has been well 

considered. They suggest the addition of conditions in relation to 

details of a material specification and detailed design of the 

ventilation shafts on the roof. A detailed landscape plan should be 

conditioned to support the design of new areas of parking. It is noted 

that the comments from the Conservation Officer suggested that 

additional tree planting, as opposed to grassed areas, should be 

incorporated into the scheme. This view was not however endorsed 

by the Landscape Officer, and the trees at the front of the site, which 

form a prominent feature in the conservation area would remain 

unaltered and is considered to provide an element of screening from 

the Hertford Conservation Area.   

 

8.22 Officers consider that the proposal would not result in harm to the 

setting of the surrounding Listed Buildings and would have a neutral 

impact on the character and appearance of the Hertford 

Conservation Area. There would be impact to the setting of the Grade 

II Registered Park and Garden ‘Balls Park’ where the new building 

would be visible from some views from the park, however it is 

considered that the building has been sited appropriately, towards 

the front of the site, away from the surrounding listed buildings and 

the registered park and garden. The visibility of the building from the 

park is not considered to be harmful and it would be read in the 

context of the school site as a whole, being adjacent to other 

buildings and away from the rear of the site. The setting of the 

Registered Historic Balls Park would be preserved. The proposal, 

subject to conditions, is considered to be in accordance with Policy 

HA1, HA7 and HA8 of the District Plan. 

 

Impact on residential amenity 

 

Page 51



Application Number: 3/22/2534/FUL 

 

8.23 There have been no objections to the proposed development from 

the occupiers of neighbouring properties. The building would be 

some 51-81m away from residential properties on the opposite side 

of Mangrove Road, and so there would be no significant direct 

impacts from overshadowing, loss of light or privacy or an 

overbearing impact. 

 

8.24 The addition of the proposed vehicular pick-up points may increase 

some vehicular movements around the site, however this is not 

considered to be significantly detrimental to the occupiers of 

properties. In addition, the additional car parking spaces would not 

likely significantly increase vehicular movements to the north-east of 

the site that would be detrimental to the amenity of occupiers of 

neighbouring properties to the south-east of the site as this will be an 

overflow car park and a small-scale increase in parking numbers as 

mentioned above. 

 

8.25 The Environmental Health Officer has provided comments on the 

application and whilst they originally recommended refusal of the 

application as no noise impact assessment or mitigation measures 

was provided, they now consider that after reviewing Inhabit report 

reference 7330-RPT-AC00100 they have no objections subject to the 

conditions. These include external noise from plant/machinery to 

ensure that the location of the new sports hall would not result in 

any short/long-term physical and mental health effects on the 

occupiers of properties and would not give rise to harmful noise 

disturbance. In addition, permitted hours for building work should be 

restricted by condition and details of dust control, pilling works and 

security lighting should be conditioned. The proposal does not 

include any additional floodlighting, however any lighting scheme can 

be secured by condition prior to their installation.  

 

8.26 Subject to the above conditions, the proposal is considered to accord 

with Policy DES4, EQ2 and EQ3 of the District Plan.  

 

Impact on highway safety, vehicle parking and sustainable 

travel 

 
Page 52



Application Number: 3/22/2534/FUL 

 

8.27 With regards to highway safety, The Highway Authority advise that 

they consider that the proposal would not result in the generation of 

additional trips, as pupil numbers would not increase. Whilst this is 

the case, the proposal would result in competitions and community 

use, which may generate some trips. However, this needs to be offset 

against the reduction in trips from school pupils being driven to other 

sites and recognition that, being located in a sustainable location, not 

all travel to the sports hall would be by private car. As such, the 

impact is considered to be minimal.  

 

8.28 Turning to traffic movements within and around the site, the 

Highway Authority consider that the proposed reconfigured parking 

arrangements would require efficient management, particularly 

during special sports events, school drop off and pick up times. As 

such, they recommend the inclusion of a condition that a Parking 

Management Plan is submitted to ensure all vehicles accessing and 

using the site do so safely and conveniently.  

 

8.29 The Highway Authority recommend a Construction Traffic 

Management Plan should be secured by condition to ensure that 

there is no harmful obstruction to traffic and pedestrian safety 

during the construction phase. Details of this have not been provided 

at this stage, however this is something that can be secured by 

condition. 

 

8.30 The agent for the application has confirmed that the coach drop off 

area will remain as existing, which is in the courtyard adjacent to the 

existing reception. There is a dedicated area for minibus drop 

off/pick up and the remaining dedicated pick up/drop off points have 

been located to the front of the car park to help reduce traffic within 

the car park. As such, subject to a Parking Management Plan 

condition to ensure safe site vehicle movements and that details of 

the proposed pedestrian access, onsite car and cycle parking, 

servicing, loading, unloading and turning areas are submitted and 

approved in writing prior to the first use of the development, the 

proposal is in accordance with Policy TRA2 of the District Plan. They 

also suggest informatives relating to the storage of materials, 

Page 53



Application Number: 3/22/2534/FUL 

 

obstruction of public highway land, road deposits and school travel 

plan should be added to any grant of permission. 

 

8.31 Turning to vehicle and cycle parking, the proposed development 

would not result in any change to the number of vehicular parking 

spaces and the submitted planning statement indicates that 176 

parking spaces will be re-provided. There would now be seven 

dedicated disabled parking spaces and 4 for electric vehicle charging. 

Cycle parking for 12 bikes is proposed as part of the scheme, 

promoting active travel. Given the sustainable location of the 

development, it is positive that there is not an increase in parking 

spaces, and also positive that there is an improvement in terms of 

provision of disabled parking bays and electric vehicle charging 

points. The provision of cycle parking would promote active travel 

and result in a sustainability benefit of the scheme. The Vehicle 

Parking Standards SPD provides guidance relating to the amount of 

cycle parking for educational uses, and the 12 proposed spaces 

broadly accords with it.  

 

8.32 To promote sustainable travel, a School Travel Plan has been 

submitted which aims to encourage staff, students and parents to 

travel to school/work more sustainably. The Travel Plan includes 

initiatives such as providing maps showing local walking / cycling 

routes and places of interest, providing details of public transport 

services, including timetables and routes as well as encouraging staff 

to car share. In addition, other initiatives include the promotion of 

‘bike to work’ schemes for staff and the possibility of setting up bike 

maintenance workshops to encourage cycle travel. The Highway 

Authority have reviewed the submitted School Travel Plan and 

consider that this needs to be updated. This can be addressed by a 

condition and would ensure that the school has an up-to-date Travel 

Plan and is committed to its promotion and review.  

 

8.33 Subject to the above conditions, the proposal is considered to accord 

with Policy TRA1 of the District Plan.  

 

Impact on the natural environment 

 
Page 54



Application Number: 3/22/2534/FUL 

 

8.34 Policies NE2 and NE3 of the District Plan 2018 require developments 

to demonstrate that ecology and protected species are given due 

consideration in the application process to ensure that no 

unacceptable harm results to the natural environment and its 

features. Further, there is a requirement to ensure that that all 

developments achieve a biodiversity net gain. Herts Ecology have 

been consulted on the application and they note the Ecological 

Impact Assessment dated November 2022 prepared by Liz Lake 

Associates that has been submitted as part of the application. 

 

8.35 This notes that the site was visited on 19 August 2022. Herts Ecology 

have been they consider that the report provides an adequate 

assessment of the impact of the proposals and is based on 

appropriate survey methods and effort. The likelihood of an adverse 

ecological impact is negligible-low, but the report suggests 

reasonable precautionary measures to ensure that legally protected 

species are not harmed.  

 

8.36 They suggest that the recommendations and mitigation measures in 

Section 6 of the ecology report are reasonable and should be 

followed. This includes installing tree protection measures to avoid 

damaging tree roots of trees adjacent to the site or retained trees 

which are used by foraging bats. As well as, ensuring that lighting 

schemes are designed so that the tree lines on site and along the site 

edges offsite as well as adjoining edges remain unlit or are not lit any 

more than at present to allow areas to retain their value as bat 

roosting and foraging areas. As noted earlier in this report, this can 

be secured by condition.  

 

8.37 For nesting birds, should the site clearance of vegetation be required 

in the nesting bird season (March to August inclusive) the vegetation 

should first be checked by an ecologist. Should an active nest be 

found clearance within 5 m of the nest should be postponed until the 

chicks had fledged and left the nest. 

 

8.38 Providing the development was carried out including the measures 

above there would be no significant residual effects on biodiversity. 

 
Page 55



Application Number: 3/22/2534/FUL 

 

8.39 With regards to new landscaping, Herts Ecology welcome the new 

planting of trees and suggest that these include native species if 

possible. They note that named species should be shown on a soft 

landscaping plan or a biodiversity plan to demonstrate biodiversity 

enhancements can be achieved from the development; the plan 

should be secured by condition. Therefore, whilst no biodiversity net 

gain calculation has been carried out for the site at this stage of the 

planning process, Officers are satisfied that a gain can be secured on 

the site with relative ease and so a condition is appropriate. It is also 

considered necessary to include a condition to ensure that bat and 

bird boxes are provided including the number and location of the 

proposed new boxes to help improve biodiversity on site.  

 

Climate change / Sustainability 

 

8.40 The District Plan seeks to ensure that new development is adaptable 

to climate change i.e. is designed to minimise overheating in summer 

and reduce the need for heating in winter, and can demonstrate how 

carbon dioxide emissions will be minimised across the development 

site.  Achieving standards beyond the requirements of Building 

Regulations is encouraged. The Council has also adopted the 

Sustainability Supplementary Planning Document in 2021 which is a 

material consideration. 

 

8.41 An Energy and Sustainability Statement prepared by WMEboom 

which confirms that the school will adopt a ‘Lean, Clean, Green’ 

approach. At this stage the Energy and Sustainability Statement does 

not confirm that the thermal performance of the building fabric will 

exceed the current 2022 Building Regulations Approval Document 

Part L: Non domestic but it is considered that this could be secured 

by condition to ensure compliance with Policy CC1 and CC2 of the 

East Herts District Plan. In addition, renewable and low carbon 

energy will be used through the use of solar PV panels on the roof 

slopes which would be hidden behind the parapet and also the 

addition of air source heat pumps.  

  

8.42 The statement also sets out that the appointed contractor is 

contractually obliged to development and adhere to a Sustainable 
Page 56



Application Number: 3/22/2534/FUL 

 

Procurement Plan in line with BREEAM requirements, using materials 

that are responsibly sourced, secondary materials which would make 

use of any reclaimed materials arising from demolition. In addition, 

materials should maximise the specification of major building 

elements to achieve an area-weighted rating of A or B as defined in 

the Building research Establishment (BRE) Green Guide to 

Specification.  

 

8.43 The building would use both grey water and rainwater recycling in 

order to reduce mains water usage, sustainable drainage systems 

would be incorporated, and materials would be sourced responsibly 

including through reclamation where possible and consideration 

would also be given to the embodied carbon of materials to be used.  

 

8.44 In addition to the above, as previously noted earlier within the report, 

the site is located within walking distance from Hertford Town Centre 

which provides access to a number of sustainable transport options 

and cycle parking and electric vehicle charging points would also be 

secured by condition to promote sustainable travel. The sustainable 

drainage systems and increases in soft landscaping also provide 

some sustainability benefits. 

 

8.45 Having regards to the above, the proposal is considered to accord 

with Policies CC1, CC2, CC3, WAT4 and TRA1 of the District Plan.  

 

Flood Risk and Sustainable Drainage 

 

8.46 The site is located within Flood Zone 1 (the part of the country with 

the lowest risk of fluvial flooding) and the Lead Local Flood Authority 

have been consulted on the surface water drainage strategy. The 

proposal includes a number of measures to reduce surface water 

flooding. This includes the permeable paving to the area to the north 

of the new sports hall, an underground water storage tank, retention 

of the existing porous car park, flow control manholes as well as 

ponds within the “calm garden” area.  

 

8.47 The surface water drainage strategy has been updated following 

consultation with the LLFA and subject to conditions which include 
Page 57



Application Number: 3/22/2534/FUL 

 

compliance with the Flood Risk Assessment, Surface Water Strategy 

and SuDS Report and the technical note addendum; the submission 

of a Construction Phase Environmental Management Plan to ensure 

the construction of the site does not result in any flooding both on 

and off site and drainage details and management/maintenance 

details of SuDS following completion of drainage works, the 

proposed scheme adequately mitigations surface water runoff and is 

acceptable in terms of flood risk. The proposal therefore accords with 

Policy WAT1 of the District Plan and the NPPF. 

 

 Other matters 

 

Archaeology 

 

8.48 The proposed development is in adjacent to an Area of 

Archaeological Significance identified in the East Hertfordshire 

District Local Plan. This denotes the estate belonging to Balls Park 

and includes Balls Park manor house itself [Historic Environment 

Record no. 4010], its associated ornamental gardens [HER 7316] and 

estate buildings such as the Stable Block [HER 16740] and Lime 

Cottage [HER 15543]. The icehouse for this estate [HER 1719] is 

known to have been sited on land now belonging to the school.  

 

8.49 The Historic Environment Advisor has been consulted and notes that 

this Area of Archaeological Significance also holds evidence of 

prehistoric settlement in the form of both finds and features. A 

Neolithic/Bronze Age pit [HER 17458] was investigated within the 

vicinity of Lime Cottage, a Late Bronze Age settlement site is known 

at Mangrove road [HER 12739] and Iron Age ditches are known in 

several places through the park [HER 13560, HER 13561, HER 18508].  

 

8.50 They note that archaeological work was undertaken in 2014/15 on 

the section of the Simon Balle school site immediately to the south-

east of the proposed scheme. During these excavations evidence was 

found of Neolithic activity, Bronze Age funerary deposition in the 

form of cremation burials and possible settlement activity, a Roman 

trackway and structure, and Medieval and Post-medieval pits and 

ditches. Some of the linear features found in these excavations 
Page 58



Application Number: 3/22/2534/FUL 

 

(Oxford Archaeology, 2019) would be expected to extend into the 

area now proposed for development under this application.  

 

8.51 As such, they consider the proposal likely to impact on heritage 

assets of archaeological significance and as such, an archaeology 

condition should be added to any grant of permission to ensure any 

archaeology is preserved in accordance with Policy HA3 of the District 

Plan and the NPPF. 

 

9.0 Planning Balance and Conclusion 

 

9.1 The proposed development is considered to have a neutral impact 

on heritage assets and whilst the development would result in 

inappropriate development in the Green Belt, very special 

circumstances exist to outweigh this harm. The development would 

encourage the use of sustainable means of transport and provides 

opportunities to improve the ecology of the site which would be 

secured by condition. The development would include renewable 

technologies in order to help reduce carbon emissions. The health, 

educational and social benefits also weigh significantly in its favour.  

 

9.2 The application is therefore considered to accord with relevant 

policies in the East Herts District Plan and the NPPF. As such, this 

application is recommended for approval subject to conditions. 

 

10.0 RECOMMENDATION 

 

10.1 Grant planning permission subject to the following conditions: 

 

1. The development to which this permission relates shall be begun 

within a period of three years commencing on the date of this notice. 

   

Reason: To comply with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town 

and Country Planning Act 1990 (As Amended). 

 

2. The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance 

with the approved plans listed at the end of this Decision Notice. 

 
Page 59



Application Number: 3/22/2534/FUL 

 

Reason: To ensure the development is carried out in accordance with 

the approved plans, drawings and specifications. 

 

3. Prior to any building works being commenced (other than 

demolition) samples of the external materials of construction for the 

building hereby permitted shall be submitted to and approved in 

writing by the Local Planning Authority and the development shall 

thereafter be implemented in accordance with the approved 

materials. 

 

Reason: In the interests of the appearance of the development and 

to preserve the character, appearance and special interest of the 

Hertford Conservation Area and the Historic Park of Balls Park in 

accordance with policy DES4, HA1, HA4 and HA8 of the East Herts 

District Plan 2018. 

 

4. Prior to any building works being commenced (other than 

demolition), details of the design of solar panels and roof ventilation 

shafts hereby permitted shall be submitted to and approved in 

writing by the Local Planning Authority and the development shall 

thereafter be implemented in accordance with the approved 

materials. 

 

Reason: In the interests of the appearance of the development and 

to preserve the character, appearance and special interest of the 

Hertford Conservation Area and the Historic Park of Balls Park in 

accordance with policy DES4, HA1, HA4 and HA8 of the East Herts 

District Plan 2018. 

 

5. No development or groundworks shall take place within the Area of 

Archaeological Significance until the applicant, or their agents, or 

their successors in title, has secured the implementation of a 

programme of archaeological work in accordance with a written 

scheme of investigation which has been submitted to and approved 

in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall 

thereafter be carried out in accordance with the approved scheme, 

and this condition will only be discharged when the required 

Page 60



Application Number: 3/22/2534/FUL 

 

archaeological reports are submitted to and approved in writing by 

the Local Planning Authority. 

 

Reason: The programme is required to be undertaken prior to the 

commencement of the development to secure the protection of and 

proper provision for any archaeological remains in accordance with 

Policies HA1and HA3 of the East Herts District Plan 2018 and the 

National Planning Policy Framework. 

 

6. Prior to the commencement of any piling works, details of the 

method of piling for the construction works, including a method 

statement and noise emissions, shall be submitted to and approved 

in writing by the local planning authority. All piling works shall be 

carried out in accordance with the agreed details. 

 

Reason: In the interests of avoiding potential detrimental impacts on 

the amenity of occupiers of neighbouring properties in accordance 

with Policy EQ2 Noise Pollution of the adopted East Herts District 

Plan 2018. 

 

7. Prior to the commencement of the development hereby approved, 

details of the design and construction of the building to demonstrate 

how the design, materials and operation of the development makes 

reductions in the use of embodied carbon in the development, 

minimises overheating in summer and reduces the need for heating 

in the winter to reduce energy demand and reduces water demand, 

shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 

Authority. The development shall thereafter be implemented in 

accordance with the approved details.  

 

Reason: To adapt to climate change, reduce carbon emissions and 

efficiently use water resources in accordance with Policies DES4, CC1, 

CC2, CC3 and WAT4 of the East Herts District Plan 2018. 

 

8. Prior to the installation of any external lighting, details of external 

artificial lighting shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 

Council. Lighting contours shall be submitted to demonstrate that 

the vertical illumination of neighbouring premises is in accordance 
Page 61



Application Number: 3/22/2534/FUL 

 

with the recommendations of the Institution of Lighting Professionals 

Guidance Note 01/20 ‘Guidance notes for the reduction of obtrusive 

light’. Details should also be submitted for approval of measures to 

minimise use of lighting and prevent glare and sky glow by correctly 

using, locating, aiming and shielding luminaires. Approved details 

shall be implemented prior to occupation of the development and 

thereafter be permanently retained. 

 

Reason: In order to ensure an adequate level of amenity for the 

occupants of nearby properties in accordance with Policy EQ3 Light 

Pollution and  DES4 Design of Development of the adopted East 

Herts District Plan 2018. 

 

9. Prior to the commencement of the development hereby approved, a 

Construction Traffic Management Plan has been submitted to and 

approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Thereafter the 

construction of the development shall only be carried out in 

accordance with the approved Plan. The Construction Traffic 

Management Plan shall include details of: 

 

 Construction Traffic management requirements; 

 Construction and storage compounds (including areas 

designated for car parking); 

 Timing of construction activities to avoid school pick up/drop off 

times; 

 Provision of sufficient on-site parking prior to commencement of 

construction activities; 

 Siting and details of wheel washing facilities; and 

 Post construction restoration/reinstatement of the working 

areas; 

   

Reason: In order to protect highway safety and the amenity of other 

users of the public highway and rights of way in accordance with 

Policy TRA2 of the East Herts District Plan 2018. 

 

10. The development shall be undertaken in accordance with following 

documents: 

 
Page 62



Application Number: 3/22/2534/FUL 

 

 Flood Risk Assessment, prepared by Elliot Wood Partnership Ltd, 

reference 222067 dated 11 November 2022 

 Surface Water Strategy and SuDS Report prepared by Elliot Wood 

Partnership Ltd, reference 2220267 P2 dated 08 December 2022 

 Technical Note addendum prepared by Elliot Wood Partnership 

Ltd, reference EWR001 dated 18 May 2023 

 

 The works shall be fully implemented in accordance with the 

approved scheme before the development is brought into use, or as 

set out in the approved phasing details. With the following mitigation 

measures: 

 

1) Limiting the surface water run-off rates to a maximum of 2l/s for 

all rainfall events up to and including the 1 in 100 year plus 

climate change event with discharge into the Thames Water 

surface water sewer. 

 

2) Provide attenuation (minimum volume 155m³ for the 

attenuation tank plus 300mm sub base for permeable paving 

indicated in the drainage layout plan (dwg no. 2220267-EWP-ZZ-

XX-DR-C-10000, P4)) to ensure no increase in surface water run-

off volumes for all rainfall events up to and including the 1 in 100 

year plus climate change event. 

 

3) Implement drainage strategy utilising permeable paving, 

geocellular attenuation tank and a hydrobrake. 

  

The mitigation measures shall be fully implemented prior to 

occupation and subsequently in accordance with the timing / phasing 

arrangements embodied within the scheme, or within any other 

period as may subsequently be agreed, in writing, by the local 

planning authority. 

  

Reason: To prevent flooding in accordance with National Planning 

Policy Framework and Policy WAT1 of the East Herts District Plan 

2018. 

 

Page 63



Application Number: 3/22/2534/FUL 

 

11. Construction shall not begin until a Construction Phase 

Environmental Management Plan for the site has been submitted to 

and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme 

shall subsequently be implemented in accordance with the approved 

details before the development is completed. 

  

Reason: To ensure that the construction of the site does not result in 

any flooding both on and off site in accordance with the National 

Planning Policy Framework and Policy WAT1 of the East Herts District 

Plan 2018. 

 

12. Upon completion of the drainage works for the site in accordance 

with the timing/phasing arrangements, the following must be 

submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority 

prior to first occupation: 

 

1) Provision of a verification report (appended with substantiating 

evidence demonstrating the approved construction details and 

specification have been implement in accordance with the 

drainage scheme). The verification report shall include 

photographs of excavations and soil profiles/horizons, 

installation of any surface water structure (during construction 

and final make up) and the control mechanism. 

 

2) Provision of a complete set of as built drawings/ final 

construction drawings for site drainage, including detailed of the 

outfall and cross sections of attenuation features. 

 

3) A final management and maintenance plan for the SuDS features 

and drainage network, included a drawing which identifies each 

feature to be made available to any parties responsible for 

maintenance. 

 

4) Arrangements for adoption and any other measurements to 

secure the operation of the scheme throughout its lifetime 

including name and contact details of any appointed 

management company and confirmation they have accepted the 

scheme. 
Page 64



Application Number: 3/22/2534/FUL 

 

 

Reason: To prevent flooding by ensuring the satisfactory storage 

of/disposal of surface water from the site. In accordance with Policy 

WAT5 Sustainable Drainage of the East Herts District Plan 2018. 

 

13. Within three months of the first use of the development hereby 

permitted, a community use agreement prepared in consultation 

with Sport England shall be submitted to and approved in writing by 

the Local Planning Authority. The agreement shall apply to the 

proposed sports hall and include details of pricing policy, hours of 

use, access by non-educational establishment users /non-members, 

management responsibilities and a mechanism for review. The 

development shall not be used otherwise in strict compliance with 

the approved agreement. 

 

Reason: To provide for the dual or multiple use of sports facilities for 

wider community activities in accordance with Policy CFLR7 of the 

East Herts District Plan 2018. 

 

14. Three months prior to the first use of the school development, the 

School shall submit to the Modeshift STARS Accreditation Framework 

and, with the support of Hertfordshire County Council Officers, shall 

undertake best practicable endeavours to promote and increase 

levels of sustainable and active travel in order to improve the health 

and wellbeing of children and young people, as well as reduce local 

highway impacts arising from pick up / drop off. Such endeavours 

shall include annual hands-up surveys of the travel behaviour of 

pupils (80% response rate) and staff (50% response rate) using 

whichever travel plan framework that Hertfordshire County Council 

currently promotes. The travel plan will be up-dated annually for the 

lifetime of the school and will include objectives, targets, planned and 

completed initiatives. The role of Travel Plan Champion shall be 

created and the responsibility for adhering to the above travel plan 

requirements shall sit within that role. 

 

Reason: To ensure that sustainable travel options associated with the 

development are promoted and maximised to be in accordance with 

Policies EQ1 and TRA1 of the East Herts District Plan 2018. 
Page 65



Application Number: 3/22/2534/FUL 

 

 

15. Prior to the use of the development hereby permitted the proposed 

pedestrian access /onsite car and cycle parking / servicing / loading, 

unloading / turning area shall be laid out, demarcated, levelled, 

surfaced and drained in accordance with the approved in-principle 

plan (Drg No. 8492/P201 Rev B) and retained thereafter available for 

that specific use. 

 

Reason: To ensure construction of a satisfactory development and in 

the interests of highway safety in accordance with Policy DES4 and 

TRA2 of the East Herts District Plan 2018. 

 

16. Prior to the first use of the development hereby approved (other 

than demolition), the details of bat and bird boxes including the 

number of/and their location/siting shall be submitted to and 

approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved 

boxes shall therefore be implemented prior to the first use of the 

development and shall be retained thereafter. 

 

Reason: In order to secure biodiversity enhancements on site in 

accordance with Policy NE2 and NE3 of the East Herts District Plan 

2018. 

 

17. Prior to the first use of the development hereby approved (other 

than demolition), the details cycle storage facilities for 12 number of 

bikes shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 

Planning Authority. The approved details shall therefore be 

implemented prior to the first use of the development and shall be 

retained thereafter. 

 

Reason: In order to promote sustainable travel in accordance with 

Policy NE2 and TRA1 of the East Herts District Plan 2018. 

 

18. Prior to the occupation of the development hereby permitted, a 

Parking Management Plan shall be submitted to and approved in 

writing by the Local Planning Authority, to illustrate how vehicle 

parking associated with the development will be operated and 

Page 66



Application Number: 3/22/2534/FUL 

 

efficiently managed. The Plan must be implemented and adhered to 

in full thereafter. 

 

Reason: To ensure all vehicles accessing and using the site do so 

safely and conveniently, causing no conflict with other vehicles or site 

users in accordance with Policy TRA2 of the East Herts District Plan 

2018. 

 

19. Prior to first use of the development hereby approved, details of 

landscaping shall be submitted and approved in writing and shall 

include full details of both hard and soft landscape proposals, 

finished levels or contours, hard surfacing materials, retained 

landscape features, planting plans, schedules of plants, species, 

planting sizes, density of planting and implementation timetable and 

thereafter the development should be implemented in accordance 

with the approved details. 

 

Reason: To ensure the provision of amenity afforded by appropriate 

landscape design in accordance with Policies DES3 and DES4 of the 

East Herts District Plan 2018. 

 

20. All hard and soft landscape works shall be carried out in accordance 

with the approved details. Any trees or plants that, within a period of 

five years after planting, are removed, die or become, in the opinion 

of the Local Planning Authority, seriously damaged or defective, shall 

be replaced as soon as is reasonably practicable with others of 

species, size and number as originally approved, unless the Local 

Planning Authority gives its written consent to any variation.  

 

Reason: To ensure the provision, establishment and maintenance of 

a reasonable standard of landscaping in accordance with the 

approved designs, in accordance with policies DES3 and DES4 of the 

East Herts District Plan 2018. 

 

21. All existing trees and hedges shall be retained, unless shown on the 

approved drawings as being removed. All trees and hedges on and 

immediately adjoining the site shall be protected from damage as a 

result of works on the site, to the satisfaction of the Local Planning 
Page 67



Application Number: 3/22/2534/FUL 

 

Authority in accordance with BS5837: 2012 Trees in relation to 

design, demolition and construction, or any subsequent relevant 

British Standard, for the duration of the works on site and until at 

least five years following contractual practical completion of the 

approved development. In the event that trees or hedging become 

damaged or otherwise defective during such period, the Local 

Planning Authority shall be notified as soon as reasonably practicable 

and remedial action agreed and implemented. In the event that any 

tree or hedging dies or is removed without the prior consent of the 

Local Planning Authority, it shall be replaced as soon as is reasonably 

practicable and, in any case, by not later than the end of the first 

available planting season, with trees of such size, species and in such 

number and positions as may be agreed with the Authority. 

 

Reason: To ensure the continuity of amenity afforded by existing 

trees and hedges, in accordance with Policy DES3 of the East Herts 

District Plan 2018.  

 

22. The recommendations and mitigation measures in Section 6 of the 

Liz lake Associates Ecology Report (November 2022) should be 

followed and fully implemented prior to the first occupation of the 

development hereby permitted. 

 

Reason: To ensure that legally protected species are not harmed and 

to achieve bio-diversity net gains in accordance with Policies NE2 and 

NE3 of the East Herts District Plan 2018.  

 

23. Details of solar photovoltaics and air source heat pumps to be 

incorporated into the development shall be submitted to and agreed 

in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to their installation 

and the development shall be completed in accordance with the 

agreed details. 

  

Reason: To ensure the satisfactory external appearance of the works 

and to minimise carbon dioxide emissions from the development in 

accordance with Policy CC2 of the East Herts District Plan 2018. 

 

Page 68



Application Number: 3/22/2534/FUL 

 

24. If unexpected land contamination is encountered whilst undertaking 

the development which has not previously been identified, works 

shall immediately cease on site until the Local Planning Authority has 

been notified and the contamination has been fully assessed 

followed by Submission of Site Investigation Report and Remediation 

Strategy. 

 

Reason: To minimise and prevent pollution of the land and the water 

environment and in accordance with national planning policy 

guidance set out in section 11 of the National Planning Policy 

Framework, and in order to protect human health and the 

environment in accordance with policy EQ1 of the adopted East Herts 

District Plan 2018. 

 

25. The rating level of noise emitted from all external fixed plant and 

equipment at the development hereby approved shall not exceed 

10dB below the background noise level when measured or calculated 

at 1 metre from the façade of the nearest noise sensitive property. 

The measurements and assessment shall be made according to BS 

4142:2014+A1:2019 ‘Methods for rating and assessing industrial and 

commercial sound’ at the nearest and / or most affected noise 

sensitive premises, with all plant / equipment operating together at 

maximum capacity and inclusive of any penalty for tonal, impulsive 

or other distinctive acoustic characteristics. 

 

Reason: In order to ensure an adequate level of amenity for 

occupiers in the vicinity of the proposed development in accordance 

with Policy EQ2 Noise Pollution of the adopted East Herts District 

Plan 2018. 

 

26. In connection with all site preparation, demolition, construction, 

conversion and ancillary activities, working hours shall be restricted 

to 08:00 – 18:00 hours on Monday to Friday, 08:00 – 13:00 hours on 

Saturdays, and not at all on Sundays or Bank / Public Holidays. 

Vehicles arriving at and leaving the site must do so within these 

working hours. 

 

Page 69



Application Number: 3/22/2534/FUL 

 

Reason: In order to ensure an adequate level of amenity for nearby 

residents in accordance with Policy EQ2 Noise Pollution of the 

adopted East Herts District Plan 2018. 

 

27. Best Practicable Means (BPM) shall be used in controlling dust 

emissions during all site preparation, demolition, construction and 

ancillary activities. In times of exceptionally dry weather, additional 

measures should be put in place to mitigate against the spread of 

dust. 

 

Reason: In order to ensure an adequate level of amenity for nearby 

residents in accordance with Policy EQ4 Air Quality of the adopted 

East Herts District Plan 2018. 

 

28. All waste materials and rubbish associated with site preparation, 

demolition or construction shall be contained on site in appropriate 

containers which, when full, should be promptly removed to a 

licensed disposal site. 

  

Reason: In order to ensure an adequate level of amenity for nearby 

residents in accordance with Policy EQ4 Air Quality of the adopted 

East Herts District Plan 2018. 

 

Informatives 

 

1. Justification Grant (JG4) 

 

2. Other Legislation (1OL1) 

 

3. During any site preparation, demolition and construction phase the 

guidance in BS 5228-1:2009+A1:2014 ‘Code of practice for noise and 

vibration control on construction and open sites’ should be adhered to. 

 

4. Storage of materials: The applicant is advised that the storage of 

materials associated with the construction of this development 

should be provided within the site on land which is not public 

highway, and the use of such areas must not interfere with the public 

highway. If this is not possible, authorisation should be sought from 
Page 70



Application Number: 3/22/2534/FUL 

 

the Highway Authority before construction works commence. Further 

information is available via the website 

https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-

pavements/highways-roads-and-pavements.aspx or by telephoning 

0300 1234047. 

 

5. Obstruction of public highway land: It is an offence under section 137 

of the Highways Act 1980 for any person, without lawful authority or 

excuse, in any way to wilfully obstruct the free passage along a 

highway or public right of way. If this development is likely to result in 

the public highway or public right of way network becoming routinely 

blocked (fully or partly) the applicant must contact the Highway 

Authority to obtain their permission and requirements before 

construction works commence. Further information is available via 

the website https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-

roads-and-pavements/highways-roads-and-pavements.aspx or by 

telephoning 0300 1234047. 

 

6. Road Deposits: It is an offence under section 148 of the Highways Act 

1980 to deposit mud or other debris on the public highway, and 

section 149 of the same Act gives the Highway Authority powers to 

remove such material at the expense of the party responsible. 

Therefore, best practical means shall be taken at all times to ensure 

that all vehicles leaving the site during construction of the 

development are in a condition such as not to emit dust or deposit 

mud, slurry or other debris on the highway. Further information is 

available via the website 

https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-

pavements/highways-roads-and-pavements.aspx or by telephoning 

0300 1234047. 

 

7. School Travel Plan: It is a requirement of this permission that a 

School Travel Plan is submitted and approved by the Council. Further 

details can be obtained 

from activeandsafertravel@hertfordshire.gov.uk. 
 

Summary of Reasons for Decision 

 
Page 71

https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/highways-roads-and-pavements.aspx
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/highways-roads-and-pavements.aspx
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/highways-roads-and-pavements.aspx
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/highways-roads-and-pavements.aspx
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/highways-roads-and-pavements.aspx
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/highways-roads-and-pavements.aspx
mailto:activeandsafertravel@hertfordshire.gov.uk


Application Number: 3/22/2534/FUL 

 

East Herts Council has considered the applicant's proposal in a positive and 

proactive manner with regard to the policies of the Development Plan and 

any relevant material considerations. The balance of the considerations is 

that permission should be granted. 

 

Plans for Approval: 

  

Plan Ref  Version    Received  

8492/P205   13.02.2023 

8492/P501  05.12.2023 

8492/P401  05.12.2023 

8492/P302    05.12.2023 

8492/P301  05.12.2023 

8492/P204   Rev A 07.07.2023 

8492/P203   05.12.2023 

8492/P202    05.12.2023 

8492/P201 Rev B 07.07.2023 

8492/P108  05.12.2023 

8492/P107  05.12.2023 

8492/P106  05.12.2023 

8492/P105   05.12.2023 

8492/P104   05.12.2023 

8492/P103  05.12.2023 

8492/P102 Rev A 07.07.2023 

8492/P101  05.12.2023 

2220267-EWP-ZZ-XX-

DR-C-10001 P2    

09.12.2023 

2220267-EWP-ZZ-XX-

DR-C-10000 P3    

09.12.2023 

 

Page 72



LONDON ROAD

LONDON ROAD

LONDON ROAD

LONDON ROAD

LONDON ROAD

LONDON ROAD

LONDON ROAD

LONDON ROAD

LONDON ROAD

LONDON ROAD

LONDON ROAD

LONDON ROAD

LONDON ROAD

LONDON ROAD

LONDON ROAD

LONDON ROAD

LONDON ROAD

LONDON ROAD

LONDON ROAD

LONDON ROAD

LONDON ROAD

LONDON ROAD

LONDON ROAD

LONDON ROAD

LONDON ROAD

LONDON ROAD

LONDON ROAD

LONDON ROAD

LONDON ROAD

LONDON ROAD

LONDON ROAD

LONDON ROAD

LONDON ROAD

LONDON ROAD

LONDON ROAD

LONDON ROAD

LONDON ROAD

LONDON ROAD

LONDON ROAD

LONDON ROAD

LONDON ROAD

LONDON ROAD

LONDON ROAD

LONDON ROAD

LONDON ROAD

LONDON ROAD

LONDON ROAD

LONDON ROAD

LONDON ROAD

STANLEY R
OAD

STANLEY R
OAD

STANLEY R
OAD

STANLEY R
OAD

STANLEY R
OAD

STANLEY R
OAD

STANLEY R
OAD

STANLEY R
OAD

STANLEY R
OAD

STANLEY R
OAD

STANLEY R
OAD

STANLEY R
OAD

STANLEY R
OAD

STANLEY R
OAD

STANLEY R
OAD

STANLEY R
OAD

STANLEY R
OAD

STANLEY R
OAD

STANLEY R
OAD

STANLEY R
OAD

STANLEY R
OAD

STANLEY R
OAD

STANLEY R
OAD

STANLEY R
OAD

STANLEY R
OAD

STANLEY R
OAD

STANLEY R
OAD

STANLEY R
OAD

STANLEY R
OAD

STANLEY R
OAD

STANLEY R
OAD

STANLEY R
OAD

STANLEY R
OAD

STANLEY R
OAD

STANLEY R
OAD

STANLEY R
OAD

STANLEY R
OAD

STANLEY R
OAD

STANLEY R
OAD

STANLEY R
OAD

STANLEY R
OAD

STANLEY R
OAD

STANLEY R
OAD

STANLEY R
OAD

STANLEY R
OAD

STANLEY R
OAD

STANLEY R
OAD

STANLEY R
OAD

STANLEY R
OAD

ASHBOURNE GARDENS

ASHBOURNE GARDENS

ASHBOURNE GARDENS

ASHBOURNE GARDENS

ASHBOURNE GARDENS

ASHBOURNE GARDENS

ASHBOURNE GARDENS

ASHBOURNE GARDENS

ASHBOURNE GARDENS

ASHBOURNE GARDENS

ASHBOURNE GARDENS

ASHBOURNE GARDENS

ASHBOURNE GARDENS

ASHBOURNE GARDENS

ASHBOURNE GARDENS

ASHBOURNE GARDENS

ASHBOURNE GARDENS

ASHBOURNE GARDENS

ASHBOURNE GARDENS

ASHBOURNE GARDENS

ASHBOURNE GARDENS

ASHBOURNE GARDENS

ASHBOURNE GARDENS

ASHBOURNE GARDENS

ASHBOURNE GARDENS

ASHBOURNE GARDENS

ASHBOURNE GARDENS

ASHBOURNE GARDENS

ASHBOURNE GARDENS

ASHBOURNE GARDENS

ASHBOURNE GARDENS

ASHBOURNE GARDENS

ASHBOURNE GARDENS

ASHBOURNE GARDENS

ASHBOURNE GARDENS

ASHBOURNE GARDENS

ASHBOURNE GARDENS

ASHBOURNE GARDENS

ASHBOURNE GARDENS

ASHBOURNE GARDENS

ASHBOURNE GARDENS

ASHBOURNE GARDENS

ASHBOURNE GARDENS

ASHBOURNE GARDENS

ASHBOURNE GARDENS

ASHBOURNE GARDENS

ASHBOURNE GARDENS

ASHBOURNE GARDENS

ASHBOURNE GARDENS

Hagsdell Lane (Path)

Hagsdell Lane (Path)

Hagsdell Lane (Path)

Hagsdell Lane (Path)

Hagsdell Lane (Path)

Hagsdell Lane (Path)

Hagsdell Lane (Path)

Hagsdell Lane (Path)

Hagsdell Lane (Path)

Hagsdell Lane (Path)

Hagsdell Lane (Path)

Hagsdell Lane (Path)

Hagsdell Lane (Path)

Hagsdell Lane (Path)

Hagsdell Lane (Path)

Hagsdell Lane (Path)

Hagsdell Lane (Path)

Hagsdell Lane (Path)

Hagsdell Lane (Path)

Hagsdell Lane (Path)

Hagsdell Lane (Path)

Hagsdell Lane (Path)

Hagsdell Lane (Path)

Hagsdell Lane (Path)

Hagsdell Lane (Path)

Hagsdell Lane (Path)

Hagsdell Lane (Path)

Hagsdell Lane (Path)

Hagsdell Lane (Path)

Hagsdell Lane (Path)

Hagsdell Lane (Path)

Hagsdell Lane (Path)

Hagsdell Lane (Path)

Hagsdell Lane (Path)

Hagsdell Lane (Path)

Hagsdell Lane (Path)

Hagsdell Lane (Path)

Hagsdell Lane (Path)

Hagsdell Lane (Path)

Hagsdell Lane (Path)

Hagsdell Lane (Path)

Hagsdell Lane (Path)

Hagsdell Lane (Path)

Hagsdell Lane (Path)

Hagsdell Lane (Path)

Hagsdell Lane (Path)

Hagsdell Lane (Path)

Hagsdell Lane (Path)

Hagsdell Lane (Path)

D
E

L
L

S
W

O
O

D

D
E

L
L

S
W

O
O

D

D
E

L
L

S
W

O
O

D

D
E

L
L

S
W

O
O

D

D
E

L
L

S
W

O
O

D

D
E

L
L

S
W

O
O

D

D
E

L
L

S
W

O
O

D

D
E

L
L

S
W

O
O

D

D
E

L
L

S
W

O
O

D

D
E

L
L

S
W

O
O

D

D
E

L
L

S
W

O
O

D

D
E

L
L

S
W

O
O

D

D
E

L
L

S
W

O
O

D

D
E

L
L

S
W

O
O

D

D
E

L
L

S
W

O
O

D

D
E

L
L

S
W

O
O

D

D
E

L
L

S
W

O
O

D

D
E

L
L

S
W

O
O

D

D
E

L
L

S
W

O
O

D

D
E

L
L

S
W

O
O

D

D
E

L
L

S
W

O
O

D

D
E

L
L

S
W

O
O

D

D
E

L
L

S
W

O
O

D

D
E

L
L

S
W

O
O

D

D
E

L
L

S
W

O
O

D

D
E

L
L

S
W

O
O

D

D
E

L
L

S
W

O
O

D

D
E

L
L

S
W

O
O

D

D
E

L
L

S
W

O
O

D

D
E

L
L

S
W

O
O

D

D
E

L
L

S
W

O
O

D

D
E

L
L

S
W

O
O

D

D
E

L
L

S
W

O
O

D

D
E

L
L

S
W

O
O

D

D
E

L
L

S
W

O
O

D

D
E

L
L

S
W

O
O

D

D
E

L
L

S
W

O
O

D

D
E

L
L

S
W

O
O

D

D
E

L
L

S
W

O
O

D

D
E

L
L

S
W

O
O

D

D
E

L
L

S
W

O
O

D

D
E

L
L

S
W

O
O

D

D
E

L
L

S
W

O
O

D

D
E

L
L

S
W

O
O

D

D
E

L
L

S
W

O
O

D

D
E

L
L

S
W

O
O

D

D
E

L
L

S
W

O
O

D

D
E

L
L

S
W

O
O

D

D
E

L
L

S
W

O
O

D

M
A

N
G

R
O

V
E

M
A

N
G

R
O

V
E

M
A

N
G

R
O

V
E

M
A

N
G

R
O

V
E

M
A

N
G

R
O

V
E

M
A

N
G

R
O

V
E

M
A

N
G

R
O

V
E

M
A

N
G

R
O

V
E

M
A

N
G

R
O

V
E

M
A

N
G

R
O

V
E

M
A

N
G

R
O

V
E

M
A

N
G

R
O

V
E

M
A

N
G

R
O

V
E

M
A

N
G

R
O

V
E

M
A

N
G

R
O

V
E

M
A

N
G

R
O

V
E

M
A

N
G

R
O

V
E

M
A

N
G

R
O

V
E

M
A

N
G

R
O

V
E

M
A

N
G

R
O

V
E

M
A

N
G

R
O

V
E

M
A

N
G

R
O

V
E

M
A

N
G

R
O

V
E

M
A

N
G

R
O

V
E

M
A

N
G

R
O

V
E

M
A

N
G

R
O

V
E

M
A

N
G

R
O

V
E

M
A

N
G

R
O

V
E

M
A

N
G

R
O

V
E

M
A

N
G

R
O

V
E

M
A

N
G

R
O

V
E

M
A

N
G

R
O

V
E

M
A

N
G

R
O

V
E

M
A

N
G

R
O

V
E

M
A

N
G

R
O

V
E

M
A

N
G

R
O

V
E

M
A

N
G

R
O

V
E

M
A

N
G

R
O

V
E

M
A

N
G

R
O

V
E

M
A

N
G

R
O

V
E

M
A

N
G

R
O

V
E

M
A

N
G

R
O

V
E

M
A

N
G

R
O

V
E

M
A

N
G

R
O

V
E

M
A

N
G

R
O

V
E

M
A

N
G

R
O

V
E

M
A

N
G

R
O

V
E

M
A

N
G

R
O

V
E

M
A

N
G

R
O

V
E

NOAHS COURT GARDENS

NOAHS COURT GARDENS

NOAHS COURT GARDENS

NOAHS COURT GARDENS

NOAHS COURT GARDENS

NOAHS COURT GARDENS

NOAHS COURT GARDENS

NOAHS COURT GARDENS

NOAHS COURT GARDENS

NOAHS COURT GARDENS

NOAHS COURT GARDENS

NOAHS COURT GARDENS

NOAHS COURT GARDENS

NOAHS COURT GARDENS

NOAHS COURT GARDENS

NOAHS COURT GARDENS

NOAHS COURT GARDENS

NOAHS COURT GARDENS

NOAHS COURT GARDENS

NOAHS COURT GARDENS

NOAHS COURT GARDENS

NOAHS COURT GARDENS

NOAHS COURT GARDENS

NOAHS COURT GARDENS

NOAHS COURT GARDENS

NOAHS COURT GARDENS

NOAHS COURT GARDENS

NOAHS COURT GARDENS

NOAHS COURT GARDENS

NOAHS COURT GARDENS

NOAHS COURT GARDENS

NOAHS COURT GARDENS

NOAHS COURT GARDENS

NOAHS COURT GARDENS

NOAHS COURT GARDENS

NOAHS COURT GARDENS

NOAHS COURT GARDENS

NOAHS COURT GARDENS

NOAHS COURT GARDENS

NOAHS COURT GARDENS

NOAHS COURT GARDENS

NOAHS COURT GARDENS

NOAHS COURT GARDENS

NOAHS COURT GARDENS

NOAHS COURT GARDENS

NOAHS COURT GARDENS

NOAHS COURT GARDENS

NOAHS COURT GARDENS

NOAHS COURT GARDENS

HAGSDELL ROAD

HAGSDELL ROAD

HAGSDELL ROAD

HAGSDELL ROAD

HAGSDELL ROAD

HAGSDELL ROAD

HAGSDELL ROAD

HAGSDELL ROAD

HAGSDELL ROAD

HAGSDELL ROAD

HAGSDELL ROAD

HAGSDELL ROAD

HAGSDELL ROAD

HAGSDELL ROAD

HAGSDELL ROAD

HAGSDELL ROAD

HAGSDELL ROAD

HAGSDELL ROAD

HAGSDELL ROAD

HAGSDELL ROAD

HAGSDELL ROAD

HAGSDELL ROAD

HAGSDELL ROAD

HAGSDELL ROAD

HAGSDELL ROAD

HAGSDELL ROAD

HAGSDELL ROAD

HAGSDELL ROAD

HAGSDELL ROAD

HAGSDELL ROAD

HAGSDELL ROAD

HAGSDELL ROAD

HAGSDELL ROAD

HAGSDELL ROAD

HAGSDELL ROAD

HAGSDELL ROAD

HAGSDELL ROAD

HAGSDELL ROAD

HAGSDELL ROAD

HAGSDELL ROAD

HAGSDELL ROAD

HAGSDELL ROAD

HAGSDELL ROAD

HAGSDELL ROAD

HAGSDELL ROAD

HAGSDELL ROAD

HAGSDELL ROAD

HAGSDELL ROAD

HAGSDELL ROAD

C
L
O

S
E

C
L
O

S
E

C
L
O

S
E

C
L
O

S
E

C
L
O

S
E

C
L
O

S
E

C
L
O

S
E

C
L
O

S
E

C
L
O

S
E

C
L
O

S
E

C
L
O

S
E

C
L
O

S
E

C
L
O

S
E

C
L
O

S
E

C
L
O

S
E

C
L
O

S
E

C
L
O

S
E

C
L
O

S
E

C
L
O

S
E

C
L
O

S
E

C
L
O

S
E

C
L
O

S
E

C
L
O

S
E

C
L
O

S
E

C
L
O

S
E

C
L
O

S
E

C
L
O

S
E

C
L
O

S
E

C
L
O

S
E

C
L
O

S
E

C
L
O

S
E

C
L
O

S
E

C
L
O

S
E

C
L
O

S
E

C
L
O

S
E

C
L
O

S
E

C
L
O

S
E

C
L
O

S
E

C
L
O

S
E

C
L
O

S
E

C
L
O

S
E

C
L
O

S
E

C
L
O

S
E

C
L
O

S
E

C
L
O

S
E

C
L
O

S
E

C
L
O

S
E

C
L
O

S
E

C
L
O

S
E

R
O

A
D

R
O

A
D

R
O

A
D

R
O

A
D

R
O

A
D

R
O

A
D

R
O

A
D

R
O

A
D

R
O

A
D

R
O

A
D

R
O

A
D

R
O

A
D

R
O

A
D

R
O

A
D

R
O

A
D

R
O

A
D

R
O

A
D

R
O

A
D

R
O

A
D

R
O

A
D

R
O

A
D

R
O

A
D

R
O

A
D

R
O

A
D

R
O

A
D

R
O

A
D

R
O

A
D

R
O

A
D

R
O

A
D

R
O

A
D

R
O

A
D

R
O

A
D

R
O

A
D

R
O

A
D

R
O

A
D

R
O

A
D

R
O

A
D

R
O

A
D

R
O

A
D

R
O

A
D

R
O

A
D

R
O

A
D

R
O

A
D

R
O

A
D

R
O

A
D

R
O

A
D

R
O

A
D

R
O

A
D

R
O

A
D

GREENCOATES

GREENCOATES

GREENCOATES

GREENCOATES

GREENCOATES

GREENCOATES

GREENCOATES

GREENCOATES

GREENCOATES

GREENCOATES

GREENCOATES

GREENCOATES

GREENCOATES

GREENCOATES

GREENCOATES

GREENCOATES

GREENCOATES

GREENCOATES

GREENCOATES

GREENCOATES

GREENCOATES

GREENCOATES

GREENCOATES

GREENCOATES

GREENCOATES

GREENCOATES

GREENCOATES

GREENCOATES

GREENCOATES

GREENCOATES

GREENCOATES

GREENCOATES

GREENCOATES

GREENCOATES

GREENCOATES

GREENCOATES

GREENCOATES

GREENCOATES

GREENCOATES

GREENCOATES

GREENCOATES

GREENCOATES

GREENCOATES

GREENCOATES

GREENCOATES

GREENCOATES

GREENCOATES

GREENCOATES

GREENCOATES

1 to 24

Henmarsh Court

6
1
 t
o

 8
4

Pavilion

15

El Sub Sta

Simon

School
Balle

3
2
a

3
4

3
6

52

Pavilion

3
2

White Lodge

Gas Gov

3
0
a

3
0

25 to
 42

45

Cricket Ground

1 to 4

49

11

6

5

10

9
12 to 17

7

18

3

44

1

Mangrove Hall

El Sub Sta

10

6

6

8

Cobnash

6a
20

2
0
a

22

1
8
a

House

1 to 73

Beech

1

14

Lodge

3
5

3

1
6
a

18

2

Springfield

3a

7

21

2
4

6

10

2

18

Karden Lodge

20

The Glebe House

18

2
1
3

2

The Twitchels

The Garden House

SITE

M
a
n

g
ro

v
e
 R

o
a
d

East Herts Council
Wallfields
Pegs Lane
Hertford
SG13 8EQ
Tel: 01279 655261

This copy has been produced specifically for Map Control Scheme purposes only.  No further copies may be made
Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown Copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings
Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey map data with the permission of the controller of Her Majesty's Stationery Office Crown Copyright
2009 East Herts Council. LA Ref: 100018528


Address: Simon Balle All-through School, Mangrove Road, 

                       Hertford, SG13 8AJ

Reference: 3/22/2534/FUL

Scale: 1:2500

O.S Sheet: TL3312

Date of Print: 07 July 2023 Page 73



EAST HERTS COUNCIL
DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE
ITEMS FOR REPORT AND NOTING
March - June 2023
Application Number 3/19/2202/FUL
Decsn Refused
Level of Decision Delegated
Address    Kecksys FarmCambridge RoadSawbridgeworthHertfordshire
Appellant Mrs M Brunt

Proposal
Retention of agricultural dwelling for use by owner of land; erection of bAllowedony and access bridge; extension of 
existing roof and provision of rain screen to stair to agricultural store in basement.

Appeal Decision Withdrawn

Application Number 3/20/0177/FUL
Decsn Refused
Level of Decision Delegated
Address      Wheelwrights FarmRowney LaneDane EndWareHertfordshireSG12 0JY
Appellant Mr J Cash

Proposal
Change of use of land to a mixed use to use for the stabling/keeping of horses and as a residential caravan site for 
4 Gypsy families, with a total of 6 caravans, including no more than 4 static caravans/mobile homes. Erection of 2 
amenity buildings.

Appeal Decision Allowed

Application Number 3/20/0633/FUL
Decsn Refused
Level of Decision Delegated
Address     Crumps FarmWest RoadSawbridgeworthHertfordshireCM21 0LJ
Appellant Mr B Wood

Proposal
Retrospective change of use from agricultural storage to workshop (B1), addition of single storey log store, 
together with associated elevational alterations.

Appeal Decision Dismissed

Application Number 3/20/1040/FUL
Decsn Refused
Level of Decision Delegated
Address      Land At Millfield LaneBury GreenLittle HadhamWareHertfordshireSG11 2ED
Appellant Mr J Connors

Proposal
Change of use of land to a four pitch Gypsy/Traveller site comprising the siting of 4 Mobile Homes, 4 Touring 
Caravans, and the erection of 4 dayroom buildings, and the formation of an internal track and hardstandings. 
Installation of bio Dismissedc septic tank.

Appeal Decision Dismissed

Application Number 3/20/1119/FUL
Decsn Refused
Level of Decision Delegated
Address      Wheelwrights FarmRowney LaneDane EndWareHertfordshireSG12 0JY
Appellant Mr James Cash
Proposal Construction of manège and access track.
Appeal Decision Allowed

Application Number 3/20/1262/FUL
Decsn Refused
Level of Decision Delegated
Address    Kecksys FarmCambridge RoadSawbridgeworthHertfordshire
Appellant Mrs M Brunt
Proposal The erection of a building for ten breeding kennels, to include runs and outside dog exercise area
Appeal Decision Withdrawn

Application Number 3/21/0959/FUL
Decsn Refused
Level of Decision Delegated
Address   Land Off Hertford RoadTewinHertfordshire
Appellant Mr A Connors

Proposal
Change of use of land for Equestrian; erection of a stable block and fencing; Hardstanding with car parking spaces 
and internal access way.

Appeal Decision Dismissed
Page 74

Agenda Item 7



Application Number 3/21/1473/ASDPN
Decsn Refused
Level of Decision Delegated
Address    22 WillowmeadHertfordHertfordshireSG14 2AT
Appellant Mr M West
Proposal Erection of an additional storey, to increase the height of the dwelling from 7.86 metres to 10.5 metres.
Appeal Decision Dismissed

Application Number 3/21/1516/FUL
Decsn Refused
Level of Decision Delegated
Address    North Aston Water TowerAston End RoadAstonHertfordshire
Appellant Mr Philip Barnett

Proposal
Conversion and extension to Dismissedused water tower into a residential property, with additional works including 
creation of external staircase and roof terrace

Appeal Decision Dismissed

Application Number 3/21/2114/OUT
Decsn Refused
Level of Decision Delegated
Address      Land West Of Stonehouse FarmStortford RoadLittle HadhamWareHertfordshireSG11 2DX
Appellant Mr Alex Doyle
Proposal Outline planning with all matters reserved for the erection of 2 detached dwellings with outbuildings.
Appeal Decision Dismissed

Application Number 3/21/2237/FUL
Decsn Refused
Level of Decision Delegated
Address    Old Station Yard Millers ViewMuch HadhamHertfordshire
Appellant Browndog Developments Ltd
Proposal Erection of four dwellings (to include one affordable unit) with associated access road and landscaping
Appeal Decision Dismissed

Application Number 3/21/2408/HH
Decsn Refused
Level of Decision Delegated
Address     9 Waterford CommonWaterfordHertfordHertfordshireSG14 2QD
Appellant Mrs Nicki Everett

Proposal
Demolition of annexe and single storey rear extension. Erection of a two storey rear extension incorporating Juliet 
bAllowedonies. Alterations to roof to include replacement of dormer windows to front. Creation of canopy to front. 
External alterations to windows and doors and removal of chimney.

Appeal Decision Allowed

Application Number 3/21/2458/FUL
Decsn Non Determination
Level of Decision Delegated

Address     Highfield NurseryU40 Between Pigs Green And Hadham RoadWellpond GreenStandonHertfordshire

Appellant C/o Sworders

Proposal
Demolition of four agricultural buildings and erection of two detached four bedroom dwellings with integrated 
garages.

Appeal Decision Dismissed

Application Number 3/21/2698/HH
Decsn Refused
Level of Decision Delegated
Address     28 Chapel LaneLetty GreenHertfordHertfordshireSG14 2PA
Appellant Mrs. H. Melcon-Sharker

Proposal
Change garage roof from hipped roof to gable ended roof. Erection of a front facing bay window, front porch infill 
extension with porch canopy, new chimney, alterations to fenestration on side and rear elevations, alter rear 
extensions pitched roof to flat roof.

Appeal Decision Allowed

Application Number 3/21/2711/HH
Decsn Refused Page 75



Level of Decision Delegated
Address     Omega20 Great MolewoodHertfordHertfordshireSG14 2PN
Appellant Mr D Fletcher
Proposal Erection of outbuilding and retaining wall. Repositioning of external steps.
Appeal Decision Dismissed

Application Number 3/21/2833/HH
Decsn Refused
Level of Decision Delegated
Address    1 Letty GreenHertfordHertfordshireSG14 2NZ
Appellant Mr Ray Green
Proposal Demolition of rear conservatory. Construction of replacement single storey rear extension.
Appeal Decision Allowed

Application Number 3/21/2844/AGPN
Decsn Refused
Level of Decision Delegated
Address    Goldings Rare Breed FarmBramfield RoadHertfordSG14 2HZ
Appellant Ms Morag Tait
Proposal Erection of agricultural barn
Appeal Decision Dismissed

Application Number 3/21/2945/HH
Decsn Refused
Level of Decision Delegated
Address     6 Henderson PlaceEpping GreenHertfordHertfordshireSG13 8GA
Appellant Dave Andrews
Proposal First floor rear extension. Insertion of window to side elevation.
Appeal Decision Dismissed

Application Number 3/21/2992/FUL
Decsn Refused
Level of Decision Delegated
Address      Cole Green Barn Cole Green WayHertingfordburyHertfordHertfordshireSG14 2LF
Appellant Mr & Mrs Williamson & Ms S Sheppard

Proposal
Change of use of agricultural building to two dwelling houses (Use Class C3). Creation of first floor level. New 
external walls, roof, windows and doors. Provision of amenity space, access and car parking spaces.

Appeal Decision Dismissed

Application Number 3/21/3066/TEL
Decsn Refused
Level of Decision Delegated
Address   Mimram RoadHertfordHertfordshire
Appellant MBNL (EE (UK) Ltd and H3G (UK) Ltd)

Proposal
The installation of a new 20 metre monopole tower, associated radio-equipment housing and ancillary 
development.

Appeal Decision Allowed

Application Number 3/22/0033/FUL
Decsn Refused
Level of Decision Delegated
Address      Sacombe Green Farm1-2 Sacombe GreenSacombeWareHertfordshireSG12 0JF
Appellant Hanlon

Proposal
Demolition of concrete barn structure, relocation of existing timber stables. Erection of 1 highly sustainable 
bungalow and link to existing brick built stables.

Appeal Decision Allowed

Application Number 3/22/0058/HH
Decsn Refused
Level of Decision Delegated
Address     11 Orchard RoadTewinWelwynHertfordshireAL6 0HE
Appellant Miss S English
Proposal Front storm porch
Appeal Decision AllowedPage 76



Application Number 3/22/0078/FUL
Decsn Refused
Level of Decision Delegated
Address     4 High StreetStandonWareHertfordshireSG11 1LA
Appellant Mr J Calder
Proposal Erection of open freestanding fabric tent (retrospective).
Appeal Decision Dismissed

Application Number 3/22/0212/AGPN
Decsn Refused
Level of Decision Delegated
Address      Muspatts FarmChurchfield RoadTewinWelwynHertfordshireAL6 0JN
Appellant

Proposal
Erection of 1, agricultural building - Length: 24.0 metres, Eaves height 4.60 metres, Breadth 22.80 metres, Ridge 
height 6.10 metres.

Appeal Decision Allowed

Application Number 3/22/0436/FUL
Decsn Refused
Level of Decision Delegated
Address     31 Burnham Green RoadDatchworthKnebworthHertfordshireSG3 6SE
Appellant Mr And Mrs Westcott
Proposal Erection of a four bedroom dwelling with associated access and parking
Appeal Decision Dismissed

Application Number 3/22/0614/HH
Decsn Refused
Level of Decision Delegated
Address    68 Mangrove RoadHertfordHertfordshireSG13 8AN
Appellant Mr Gavin Halliday

Proposal
Removal of double hipped roof and replacement with double gable ended roof with raised ridge height, 1 rear 
dormer and 4 front roof lights windows to incorporate habitable loft floor accommodation.

Appeal Decision Allowed

Application Number 3/22/0886/HH
Decsn Refused
Level of Decision Delegated
Address     Orchard HouseBroad Oak EndHertfordHertfordshireSG14 2JA
Appellant Mr David Mayberry

Proposal
Demolition of two storey and single storey rear extensions. Erection of two storey rear extension. Enlarged first 
floor rear window. Insertion of one velux rooflight in rear elevation.

Appeal Decision Dismissed

Application Number 3/22/0977/HH
Decsn Refused
Level of Decision Delegated
Address    6 Mercers AvenueBishops StortfordHertfordshireCM23 4AG
Appellant Mr and Mrs Atkinson
Proposal Two storey side extension. Insertion of 2 roof lights to side elevation.
Appeal Decision Dismissed

Application Number 3/22/1017/TEL
Decsn Refused
Level of Decision Delegated
Address   Land At Beane Road And Millmead WayHertfordHertfordshire
Appellant Hutchison 3G (UK) Ltd

Proposal
Installation of a 15m monopole tower to support antenna, associated radio-equipment, housing and ancillary 
development.

Appeal Decision Dismissed

Application Number 3/22/1021/HH
Decsn Refused
Level of Decision Delegated
Address    52 Molewood RoadHertfordHertfordshireSG14 3AJ
Appellant Mr Nick Shewring
Proposal Erection of a single storey timber framed garden office building with pitched roof. Page 77



Appeal Decision Dismissed

Application Number 3/22/1075/HH
Decsn Refused
Level of Decision Delegated
Address    31 Villiers StreetHertfordHertfordshireSG13 7BW
Appellant Ms Diane Penson
Proposal Conversion of loft, insertion of dormer window to front and rear. Removal of rear chimney.
Appeal Decision Dismissed

Application Number 3/22/1476/ASDPN
Decsn Refused
Level of Decision Delegated
Address     28 Chapel LaneLetty GreenHertfordHertfordshireSG14 2PA
Appellant H Melcon-Sharker

Proposal
Removal of roof and construction of an additional storey, to increase the height of the dwelling from 5.3 metres to 
7.98 metres.

Appeal Decision Allowed

Application Number 3/22/1485/HH
Decsn Refused
Level of Decision Delegated
Address    47 Ware RoadHertfordHertfordshireSG13 7ED
Appellant Mr Colin Rice

Proposal
Partial demolition of lean-to workshop and boundary wall. Extension of workshop to provide a two storey 
artwork/sculpture studio and workshop, incorporating a covered work area, external stairs and new folding gates. 
Extension of existing dropped kerb.

Appeal Decision Dismissed

Application Number 3/22/1604/HH
Decsn Refused
Level of Decision Delegated
Address    34 Portland RoadBishops StortfordHertfordshireCM23 3SJ
Appellant Judith Clarkson

Proposal
Demolition of existing rear extensions at ground and first floors. Construction of new replacement rear extensions 
at ground and first floors, along with general reprofiling of the rear garden.

Appeal Decision Dismissed

Application Number 3/22/1646/HH
Decsn Refused
Level of Decision Delegated
Address     12 Winters LaneWalkernStevenageHertfordshireSG2 7NZ
Appellant Steve and Diane Hart
Proposal Erection of workshop, carport and timber entrance gate.
Appeal Decision Dismissed

Application Number 3/22/2001/HH
Decsn Refused
Level of Decision Delegated
Address      Ivy FarmCradle EndLittle HadhamWareHertfordshireSG11 2ER
Appellant Mr Raymond Dean
Proposal Retention of the erection of a car port.
Appeal Decision WithdrawnPIN

Application Number 3/22/2136/TEL
Decsn Refused
Level of Decision Delegated
Address    Land At North RoadBengeoHertfordHertfordshire
Appellant

Proposal
Upgrade to the existing 6.3m high lamppost. Proposed 17.50m high Phase 7 monopole complete with wrapround 
cabinet to be installed on root foundation and associated ancillary works.

Appeal Decision Dismissed

Application Number 3/22/2184/HH
Decsn Refused
Level of Decision DelegatedPage 78



Address      The ConifersHill Farm NurseryOld Hall GreenWareHertfordshireSG11 1EZ
Appellant Mr D Fox
Proposal Single storey side extension
Appeal Decision Allowed

Application Number 3/22/2197/HH
Decsn Refused
Level of Decision Delegated
Address     Chase HousePerry GreenMuch HadhamHertfordshireSG10 6ED
Appellant Mr & Mrs D Hornsby

Proposal
Proposed two storey side extension to annex/garage block incorporating a side facing Juliet bAllowedony and front 
facing dormers. Partial garage conversion. New covered front porch and alterations to fenestration.

Appeal Decision Dismissed

Application Number 3/22/2352/HH
Decsn Refused
Level of Decision Delegated
Address    3 Margrave GardensBishops StortfordHertfordshireCM23 3WA
Appellant Mr Steven Dargue
Proposal Erection of 2 storey rear extension.
Appeal Decision Dismissed

Application Number 3/22/2466/HH
Decsn Refused
Level of Decision Delegated
Address    47 Kingsbridge RoadBishops StortfordHertfordshireCM23 2AE
Appellant Mr Elliot Barnard
Proposal Extension of rear dormer. Alterations to fenestration
Appeal Decision Withdrawn

Application Number X/21/0331/CND
Decsn Refused
Level of Decision Delegated
Address    (SAWB3) Land At Chalks FarmSouth Of West RoadSawbridgeworthHertfordshire
Appellant Armstrong Barratt David Wilson North Thames
Proposal Dismissedcharge condition 24 (pedestrian/cyclist bridge crossings) attached to 3/18/1523/FUL
Appeal Decision Dismissed

Sara Saunders, Head of Planning and Building Control – Extn: 1656

Page 79



NEW PLANNING APPEALS LODGED FEBRUARY 2023
Head of Planning and Building Control

Application 
Number

Proposal Address Decision Appeal 
Start Date

Appeal 
Procedure

3/21/0701/FUL Erection of 5 three-bed terraced dwellings with access, parking, and 
pedestrian pathway and associated works.

 Kemps CloseHare 
   StreetBuntingford SG9 0DZ

Non 
Determination

24/04/2023 Written 
Representation

3/21/1440/HH Ground floor extensions to include ground floor orangery style extension. 
New link between main house and gym. New roof to Gym with with a 
raised wall. First floor extension. New windows and doors. Removal of 
chimney. External Spiral staircase.

1 Bury 
   LaneDatchworthKnebworth 

 SG3 6ST

Refused 
Delegated

05/05/2023 Fast Track

3/21/2523/FUL Extensions, alterations and refurbishment and part change of use from 
F2(b) (Sui Generis)  to C3 (groundsman's flat) to create 1, 2 bedroomed 
dwelling.  Alterations to roof to create roof terrace with external steps. 
Extension and alteration to parking.  Extension to Cricketers Changing 
Pavilion and alterations to landscaping with creation of external steps.

Bishops Stortford Community Sports 
  ClubCricketfield LaneBishops 

  Stortford CM23 2TD

Refused 
Delegated

07/03/2023 Written 
Representation

3/21/2694/HH First floor side extension (part retrospective)  KeepersHigh 
   WychSawbridgeworth CM21 0LA

Refused 
Delegated

06/06/2023 Fast Track

3/21/2763/HH Demolition of outbuilding. Garage conversion to create one bedroom self 
contained annexe with two storey side extension. Removal of garage 
door with two replacement ground floor windows, infill of door opening to 
front, insertion of double doors and ground floor window to rear. Insertion 
of 1.2 metre wooden rail and post fence.

 Ivy Cottage9 Malting 
    LaneBraughingWare SG11 

2QZ

Refused 
Delegated

30/05/2023 Written 
Representation

3/21/2764/LBC Demolition of outbuilding. Garage conversion to create one bedroom self 
contained annexe with two storey side extension. Removal of garage 
door with two replacement ground floor windows, infill of door opening to 
front, insertion of double doors and ground floor window to rear. Insertion 
of 1.2 metre wooden rail and post fence.

 Ivy Cottage9 Malting 
    LaneBraughingWare SG11 

2QZ

Refused 
Delegated

30/05/2023 Written 
Representation

3/21/2871/FUL Erection of 1, 4 bedroomed dwelling  Land Adj Borley Green BarnConduit 
   LaneBrent PelhamBuntingford 

 SG9 0AJ

Refused 
Delegated

03/05/2023 Written 
Representation

3/22/0218/FUL Erection of detached four bedroom dwelling. Demolition of outbuildings, 
access provided via existing access from Long Lane.

 Land Adjacent To Fox Cottage81 
   Long LaneAstonStevenage 

 SG2 7HE

Refused 
Delegated

20/03/2023 Written 
Representation

3/22/0310/HH Conversion and alterations to garage/store/office to create residential 
annexe to include raising of roof, insertion of rooflights, doors and 
windows.

 The Stables London 
   RoadHertford SG13 7NS

Refused 
Delegated

06/03/2023 Fast Track

3/22/0356/HH Part single storey front extension, part first floor side extension 
incorporating a dormer window. Insertion of dormer to side elevation and 
external alterations.

 1 Harrison LaneBalls 
   ParkHertford SG13 8FE

Refused 
Delegated

25/05/2023 Fast Track

3/22/0510/REM Approval of reserved matters for layout, scale, appearance and 
landscaping of 3/21/1749/VAR (approved under outline planning 
3/18/2253/OUT) for E(g)(ii), E(g)(iii), B2 and B8 uses including servicing, 
landscaping, means of enclosure and associated works and 
infrastructure.

Land At Bishops Stortford South 
 (BISH5)Off Whittington 

  WayBishops Stortford 

Grant 
Committee

31/05/2023 Written 
Representation

3/22/0711/VAR New first floor with alterations to ground floor of existing dwelling house.  
New detached garage with workshop/storage over.  Variation of condition 
2 (approved plans) of planning permission: 3/11/0306/FP.

   46 Pepper HillGreat AmwellWare 
 SG12 9RZ

Refused 
Delegated

13/03/2023 Fast Track

3/22/0786/FUL Retention of conversion of workshop to 1 detached house, raising the 
roof height to create first floor accommodation, Two storey side 
extension, single storey rear extension, 4 front dormers, 4 rear dormers 
and alterations to fenestration.

 How Green Farm Baldock 
   RoadBuntingford SG9 9RH

Refused 
Delegated

27/03/2023 Written 
Representation

3/22/0798/FUL Residential development comprising 10 bungalows, associated car 
parking provision and ancillary works.

 Area 4Land South Of Hare Street 
   RoadBuntingford SG9 9HX

Refused 
Delegated

27/06/2023 Written 
Representation

3/22/0813/FUL Continued erection of four dwellings previously approved under reference 
3/14/1204/FP.

 Quinbury FarmHay 
    StreetBraughingWare SG11 

2RE

Refused 
Delegated

08/03/2023 Public Inquiry

3/22/0862/HH First floor rear extension, re-roofing of existing house, 1 new first floor 
side window.

 62 Warwick RoadBishops 
  Stortford CM23 5NW

Refused 
Delegated

05/06/2023 Fast Track

3/22/1021/HH Erection of a single storey timber framed garden office building with 
pitched roof.

  52 Molewood RoadHertford 
 SG14 3AJ

Refused 
Delegated

29/03/2023 Fast Track

3/22/1146/FUL Construction of a detached two-storey, three bedroom dwelling. Land Opposite Amwell Grove 
  Cautherly LaneGreat 

 AmwellSG12 9SP

Refused 
Delegated

26/04/2023 Written 
Representation

3/22/1193/FUL Change of use of agricultural/forestry stores, workshops and 
maintenance building to create residential dwelling. Works to include the 
erection of a single storey lean-to extension and chimney. Erection of 
garage and entrance gates, erection of solar panels, and external 
alterations to windows and doors with the insertion of rooflights and 
insertion of air source heat pump. Landscaping and associated works.

 Rear Of Fryars Farm CottageFryars 
   LaneHigh WychSawbridgeworth 

 CM21 0LB

Refused 
Delegated

25/04/2023 Written 
Representation

3/22/1208/FUL Retrospective change of use to dog day care.  Land Adjacent To Hightrees 1 
   ParksideBuntingford SG9 9RT

Refused 
Delegated

26/06/2023 Written 
Representation

3/22/1349/FUL Construction of stables and associated use of land for equestrian use 
with associated hard standing, parking and creation of access.

 Land At Gilston LaneGilston Park 
  Gilston 

Refused 
Delegated

19/04/2023 Written 
Representation

3/22/1378/OUT Outline Planning application for the erection of 18 residential dwellings, 
together with access, car parking, public open space and landscaping. All 
matters reserved except for access.

 Land At Tewin HillUpper Green 
   RoadTewin AL6 0LJ

Refused 
Delegated

23/06/2023 Written 
Representation

3/22/1433/FUL Demolition of agricultural building and erection of one four bedroom 
single storey detached dwelling.

 Highfield NurseryWellpond 
   GreenStandon SG11 1NL

Non 
Determination

29/03/2023 Written 
Representation

3/22/1488/FUL Removal of garage. Construction of 2 one bedroom dwellings with private 
amenity space, bin storage, bicycle parking, off-street car parking, 
landscaping and new access onto Cromwell Road.

   167 Ware RoadHertford SG13 
7EQ

Refused 
Delegated

18/04/2023 Written 
Representation

Page 80



Public Inquiry and Hearing Dates
All Hertford Council Chamber unless specified

Application Case 
Officer

Address Proposal Appeal 
Status

Procedure 
Type

Appeal Date

3/20/2139/FUL Rachael 
Collard

  Plot 64 Land Opposite Mill ViewHare 
   StreetBuntingford SG9 0DX

Change of use of the land to Gypsy and Traveller residential, with the siting of five 
caravans, of which no more than one would be a static caravan, erection of a shed, 
the provision of vehicular parking spaces and soft and hard landscaping, installation 
of a package treatment plant and associated foul drainage, widening of the existing 
vehicular access and repairs to the internal access road.

Pending 
Decision

Hearing 16/11/2022

3/22/0813/FUL Amit Patel  Quinbury FarmHay 
    StreetBraughingWareHertfordshire

SG11 2RE

Continued erection of four dwellings previously approved under reference 
3/14/1204/FP.

LODGED Public Inquiry TBA

3/22/2346/FUL Amit Patel Land At Railway 
   StreetHertfordHertfordshireSG14 

1BU

Erection of 34 1 and 2 bed Retirement Living apartments including communal 
facilities, access, car parking and landscaping and 203 sqm of retail/commercial use 
(Class E)

INPROG Public Inquiry 04/07/2023

Page 81



DEVELOPMENT CONTROL

Major, Minor and Other Planning Applications

Cumulative Performance
( calculated from April 2023 )

A
p

r-
2

3

M
a

y-
23

Ju
n-

2
3

Ju
l-2

3

A
u

g-
23

S
e

p-
23

O
ct

-2
3

N
o

v-
23

D
e

c-
23

Ja
n-

2
4

F
e

b-
24

M
a

r-
24

Total Applications 
Received 160 340 519

Percentage achieved 
against Local and 
National Targets A

p
r-

2
2

M
a

y-
22

Ju
n-

2
2

Ju
l-2

2

A
u

g-
22

S
e

p-
22

O
ct

-2
2

N
o

v-
22

D
e

c-
22

Ja
n-

2
3

F
e

b-
23

M
a

r-
23

National 
Designation 
Targets (set 

by 
Government)

Major % 100% 80% 67% Major % 60%

Minor and Other % 84% 83% 85% Minor % 70%

A
p

r-
2

3

M
a

y-
23

Ju
n-

2
3

Ju
l-2

3

A
u

g-
23

S
e

p-
23

O
ct

-2
3

N
o

v-
23

D
e

c-
23

Ja
n-

2
4

F
e

b-
24

M
a

r-
24

Total number of 
appeal decisions 
(Monthly) 10 6 5
Number Allowed 
against our refusal 
(Monthly) 5 2 1

Total number of 
appeal decisions 
(Cumulative) 10 16 21
Number Allowed 
against our refusal 
(Cumulative) 5 7 8

A
G

E
N

D
A

 IT
E

M
 N

o
.  7

D

Page 82


	Agenda
	5 Minutes - 5 April 2023
	6 Planning Applications for Consideration by the Committee
	6a 3/22/2534/FUL - Removal of five temporary buildings, erection of a Sports Hall with reception and administrative areas, amendments to vehicular parking and circulation, improvements to security and pedestrian connectivity, together with hard and soft landscaping and associated works at Simon Balle All-through School, Mangrove Road, Hertford, SG13 8AJ
	3222534FUL - OS Plan

	7 Items for Reporting and Noting
	Appeals Lodged (March - June 2023)
	Appeal Hearing Dates (June 2023)
	Cumulative Figures - June 2023


